
1Alpha Realtors, Alpha Financial, and Nguyen will co llectively
be referred to as “Alpha.”  Although Nguyen and Alp ha Realtors are
two separate defendants in this action, the court u ses “Nguyen” and
“Alpha” interchangeably as Nguyen is the sole share holder of Alpha
Realtors.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

TONY LAM, Individually and as §
Co-Trustee of Judy Chau §
Revocable Trust; JUDY CHAU, §
Individually and as Co-Trustee §
of Judy Chau Revocable Trust; §
and JUDY CHAU REVOCABLE TRUST, §

§
Plaintiffs, §

§
v. §      CIVIL ACTION NO. H-09-3041

§
ALPHA REALTORS, INC., §
JANE NGA DUNG NGUYEN d/b/a §
ALPHA FINANCIAL NETWORK, §
JANE NGA DUNG NGUYEN, §
Individually, QUYNH LE, §
Individually, and MURKA, INC., §

§
Defendants. §

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Tony Lam, Individually and as Co-Trustee of Judy Ch au

Revocable Trust, Judy Chau, Individually and as Co- Trustee of Judy

Chau Revocable Trust, and the Judy Chau Revocable T rust (the “Chau

Trust”) (collectively, “Lam and Chau”) bring this a ction against

Alpha Realtors, Inc. (“Alpha Realtors”), Jane Nga D ung Nguyen d/b/a

Alpha Financial Network (“Alpha Financial”), Jane N ga Dung Nguyen,

Individually, Quynh Le, Individually, 1 and Murka, Inc. (“Murka”)
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2Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“Complaint”), Docket
Entry No. 22, ¶¶ 3–5.
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alleging breach of contract, fraud, breach of fiduc iary duty, and

violations of Texas statute concerning the alleged mismanagement of

and misrepresentations about several commercial rea l estate

properties in Houston, Texas.  Pending before the c ourt are  Alpha

Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("A lpha's Motion")

(Docket Entry No. 38), Plaintiffs' Motion for Parti al Summary

Judgment on Fiduciary Claim Related to Real Estate Broker

Intermediary Failure ("Plaintiffs' Fiduciary-Duty M otion") (Docket

Entry No. 39), Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summa ry Judgment on

Chapter 62 Claim ("Plaintiffs' Chapter 62 Motion") (Docket Entry

No. 40), and Plaintiffs' Motion for Voluntary Dismi ssal of Certain

Claims Against Alpha Defendants Without Prejudice ( "Plaintiffs'

Motion for Dismissal") (Docket Entry No. 59).  For the reasons

explained below, the court will deny Plaintiffs’ Fi duciary-Duty

Motion and will deny in part and grant in part Alph a’s Motion,

Plaintiffs’ Chapter 62 Motion, and Plaintiffs’ Moti on for

Dismissal.”

I.  Factual and Procedural Background

This action involves alleged misconduct relating to  the

acquisition and management of several commercial re al estate

properties in Houston, Texas.  Plaintiffs Tony Lam and Judy Chau

are United States citizens currently residing in Th ailand, and they

are co-trustees and co-beneficiaries of the Chau Tr ust. 2  The Chau



3Id.  ¶ 5.

4Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, ¶ 6.

5Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 3.

6Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶¶ 8–9. 

7Id.  ¶ 10.

8Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e and
Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Alpha Defendants ’ Motion for
Partial Summary Judgment (“Plaintiffs’ Response”), Docket Entry
No. 49, ¶¶ 2–3.  A “Section 1031 exchange” occurs w hen a taxpayer
exchanges property held for productive use in busin ess or for
investment solely for qualified, like-kind property , allowing the
taxpayer to recognize no taxable gain or loss.  26 U.S.C. § 1031
(2006).
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Trust is a trust created under Hawaii state law. 3  Defendant Alpha

Realtors is a Texas corporation engaged in the busi ness of

brokering commercial real estate transactions. 4  Defendant Alpha

Financial was a Texas sole proprietorship operated by Nguyen at all

times relevant to this action. 5  Defendants Jane Nga Dung Nguyen

and Quynh Le are Texas residents and worked for Alp ha Realtors at

all times relevant to this action. 6  Defendant Murka, Inc. is a

Texas corporation. 7

A. The Real Estate Transactions

In March of 2006 Lam and Chau sold investment prope rty they

owned in Hawaii, planning to reinvest the proceeds in various

business and investment properties in Houston as pa rt of a tax-

deferred Section 1031 exchange. 8  To qualify for § 1031's benefits,

Lam and Chau had 45 days from the closing date of t he Hawaii sale



926 U.S.C. § 1031(a)(3); Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of
Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49, ¶ 2.

10Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶¶ 2–3; Deposition of Tony Lam, Exhib it A to Tab 2 of
Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 24:6– 25.

11Deposition of Tony Lam, Exhibit A to Tab 2 of Plain tiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, pp. 25:10–26:10.

12Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 4.

13Deposition of Tony Lam, Exhibit A to Tab 2 of Plain tiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, pp. 10:3–13:20; 22:1 7–22.

14Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, ¶ 7.
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(until May 1, 2006) to identify replacement propert ies, and 180

days from the closing date (until September 13, 200 6) to acquire

the replacement properties. 9  After paying off the mortgage, Lam

and Chau had $1,969,638.12 from the Hawaii sale to invest in

replacement properties. 10  Lam chose to invest in Houston commercial

real estate because he believed the Houston market offered a

relatively high rate of return. 11

A few months before the Hawaii sale, Lam decided to  explore

the Houston market with the assistance of Houston r eal estate

brokers. 12  The parties disagree about how Lam portrayed his prior

experience in commercial real estate.  Lam explains  that he

previously had owned several businesses but had inv ested in only

one commercial real estate property before purchasi ng the Houston

properties. 13   The Alpha defendants allege that Lam “represente d

himself to be an experienced real estate investor.” 14



15Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 4.

16Id.  ¶ 5.

17Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 10.

18Id.  ¶ 3.

19Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 4.
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Lam located Houston-based Alpha Realtors on a websi te called

Loopnet.com and contacted its representative, Jane Nguyen, to

discuss his investment plan. 15  Lam states that he retained Alpha

Realtors in part because Nguyen, like Lam, was Viet namese; and Lam

wanted to work with someone who could speak his lan guage and

appreciate how the Vietnamese culture influenced th e way he

conducted business. 16  After a few weeks of e-mail and telephone

correspondence, Lam sent links of several Houston p roperties he had

researched to Alpha so Nguyen could review them. 17  Quynh Le also

worked for Alpha at that time. 18

Lam and Chau then flew to Houston for a three-day v isit to

look at several properties for which Nguyen was the  listing agent. 19

Lam asserts that Nguyen made representations to him  on the phone

and during his first visit to Houston concerning ho w the

commissions would be divided and how the properties  would be



20Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 59; Affidavit of Tony Lam,
Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49,  ¶ 6; Deposition
of Tony Lam, Exhibit A to Tab 2 of Plaintiffs’ Resp onse, Docket
Entry No. 49, pp. 40:23–41:24. 

21See Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Mot ion,
Docket Entry No. 38, ¶¶ 7–17.

22Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶¶ 7–8, 11–12, 17; Deposition of Tony  Lam, Exhibit A
to Tab 2 of Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 35:5–10.

23Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 13.
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managed. 20  Nguyen disputes the existence of some of these

representations and disputes the content of others. 21

On May 1, 2006, to keep within the bounds of Sectio n 1031, Lam

and Chau identified five Houston properties as cand idates for

replacement properties:  (1) unimproved real proper ty located at

12771 Beechnut (“Beechnut”); (2) the property and i mprovements

located at 11611 Bissonnet (“Bissonnet”); (3) the p roperty and

improvements located at 8540 Broadway (“Broadway”);  (4) the

property and improvements located at 5999 W. 34th S t.

(“W. 34th St.”); and (5) the property, improvements , and business

located at 16515 Longenbaugh Drive (“Longenbaugh”). 22  Between

January and September of 2006, Lam and Chau, with t he assistance of

Alpha Realtors, purchased all five of these propert ies using funds

from both personal accounts and bank loans.

1. The Beechnut Transaction

On January 26, 2006, Lam and Chau contracted to pur chase the

Beechnut Property for $480,000. 23  Lam and Chau closed on the



24Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 11.

25Id.

26Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 8.

27Id.  ¶ 13; Beechnut Standard Form of Agreement, Exhibit  15 to
Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, p. 1.

28Deposition of Tony Lam, Exhibit A to Tab 2 of Plain tiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 99:9–20.

29Beechnut Standard Form of Agreement, Exhibit 15 to Alpha’s
Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, p. 2.

30Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 13.
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property on June 7, 2006. 24  The two real estate brokers, Nguyen

(representing the plaintiffs) and Evan Howell, Inc.  (representing

the seller), each received a $14,400 commission at closing. 25

Nguyen states in her affidavit that she managed the  Beechnut

property under an oral agreement with Lam and Chau. 26

In August of 2006 Lam and Chau contracted with an a rchitect

and contractor, Doanh Hoang Dinh, to design and bui ld a business

park on the Beechnut property. 27  Lam asserts that he paid around

$3 million for the property and business park. 28  The contract

stated that substantial completion of the project w as to be

achieved no later than February 28, 2007. 29  Nguyen states that to

fund the business-park project, Lam and Chau borrow ed $2,200,000

from Wachovia Bank. 30

Lam and Chau allege that before they purchased the Beechnut

property and secured financing for improvements to the property,



31Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 68.

32Id.  ¶ 78.

33Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 19.

34Id.  ¶¶ 21–22.

35Id.  ¶ 24.

36Bissonnet Commercial Contract, Exhibit 8 to Alpha’s  Motion,
Docket Entry No. 38, p. 1; Financing Addendum for B issonnet
property, Exhibit 8 to Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry  No. 38, p. 3.

37Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 7.
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Nguyen represented that she would assist them in fi nding

prospective tenants and that she had already secure d seven letters

of commitment and five pre-leases from prospective tenants. 31  Lam

and Chau also allege that Nguyen and Le forged Lam’ s signature and

initials on these documents. 32  Nguyen states that Alpha agreed at

Lam’s request to help find prospective tenants so L am could secure

financing. 33  Nguyen also states that Lam asked Alpha to sign t he

pre-leases and letters of commitment on his behalf since he did not

live in Texas. 34  According to Nguyen, the business park was not

completed on schedule; and by the time it was compl eted, Alpha  was

unable to convince any of the prospective tenants t o move in. 35

2. The Bissonnet Transaction

On February 10, 2006, Lam and Chau contracted to bu y the

Bissonnet property for $600,000. 36  Lam and Chau closed on the

property on April 12, 2006. 37  Nguyen served as the intermediary



38Id.

39Id.

40Id.  ¶ 9; Bissonnet Management Agreement, Exhibit C to
Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 1.

41Bissonnet Management Agreement, Exhibit C to Plaint iffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 1.

42Id.  at 2–8.
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real estate broker between Lam and Chau and the sel lers, a position

that Lam states Nguyen did not fully disclose befor e the

transaction occurred. 38  Lam states that Nguyen received a portion

of the sales proceeds. 39

On May 30, 2006, after Section 1031's identificatio n period

had lapsed, Lam and Chau entered into a Commercial Property

Management Agreement with Alpha. 40  The agreement, signed by both

parties, provides that Tony Lam, the “Owner,” appoi nts Alpha

(Nguyen), the “Broker,” as the sole and exclusive a gent of the

property to “manage and lease” the property. 41  The agreement also

includes the scope of the broker’s authority, repre sentations and

promises to which Lam agreed, and details regarding  insurance,

fees, liability/indemnification, and attorneys’ fee s. 42

The section titled “BROKER’S FEES” provides:  (1) e ach month,

Lam will pay Nguyen a management fee of 5% of “the gross monthly

rents collected that month”; (2) each time the prop erty is leased

to a new tenant, Lam will pay Nguyen a leasing fee equal to 5% of

“the gross to be paid under the lease”; (3) each ti me a tenant



43Id.  at 5–7.  The court notes that while Nguyen initial ed each
of pages five through seven, Lam only initialed pag e five.  Both
parties signed the last page of the agreement.

44Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 9.

45Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 14; Broadway Commercial Earnest Mon ey Contract,
Exhibit 9 to Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, p . 1.

46Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 14.
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renews or extends a lease, Lam will pay Nguyen a re newal or

extension fee equal to 2% of “the gross rents to be  paid under the

renewal or extension”; (4) each time Nguyen arrange s for the

property to be repaired, maintained, redecorated, o r altered as

permitted by the agreement, Lam will pay Nguyen a s ervice fee equal

to 3% of “the total cost of each repair, maintenanc e, alteration,

or redecoration”; (5) if Lam sells the property to a tenant who

occupied the property or to a non-tenant buyer who Nguyen procures,

Lam will pay Nguyen a fee equal to 2% of “the sales  price.” 43  Lam

states that the agreement contradicts Nguyen’s prio r representation

that she would manage the Bissonnet property at no charge for five

years. 44

3. The Broadway Transaction

On February 12, 2006, Lam and Chau entered into an earnest-

money contract to purchase the Broadway property fo r $775,565. 45

Lam and Chau closed on the property on March 31, 20 06, and Alpha

agreed to evenly share the commission with Lam and Chau. 46  On



47Id.

48Id.  ¶ 15.

49Id.

50Id.

51Id.

52Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 17.

53Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 8.
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May 30, 2006, Lam and Chau entered into a Commercia l Property

Management Agreement for the Broadway property that  was similar to

the Bissonnet Commercial Property Management Agreem ent. 47  The

Broadway dealings are, for the most part, not at is sue in this

action.

4. The W. 34th St. Transaction

On March 1, 2006, Lam and Chau contracted to purcha se the

W. 34th St. property from PQ Investments, Inc. (“PQ  Investments”)

for $1,250,000. 48  Lam and Chau closed on the property on

September 5, 2006, 49 and Lam’s affidavit states that at closing

Nguyen received a $35,074.32 commission. 50  Plaintiffs financed

$875,000 of the purchase price with a loan from Eas t West Bank. 51

Nguyen served as the intermediary real estate broke r between Lam

and Chau and the sellers, a position that Lam again  states Nguyen

did not fully disclose before the transaction occur red. 52  Nguyen

states in her affidavit that she managed the W. 34t h St. property

under an oral agreement with Lam and Chau. 53



54Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 18; Alpha 1547, Exhibit H to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 1.

55Alpha 1547, Exhibit H to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respo nse,
Docket Entry No. 49, p. 1.

56Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 30.

57Id.  ¶¶ 29, 32.

58Lam 37, Exhibit I to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response,  Docket
Entry No. 49, p. 1.
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Before purchasing the W. 34th St. property, Nguyen provided,

and Lam and Chau reviewed, a “rent roll” for the pr operty, which

lists each tenant, the term of each tenant’s lease,  the monthly

rent each tenant pays, and the annual income and ex penses. 54  The

rent roll, which is undated and written on Alpha le tterhead, showed

that there were five tenants paying between $1,200 and $3,369 per

month in rent, an annual gross income of $126,828, and annual

expenses of $0.00. 55  Nguyen acknowledges that the rent roll was

prepared by her assistant, Lynn Dang, from informat ion the seller

provided orally, and that it contains “several erro rs,” including

an incorrect statement that the property had zero a nnual expenses. 56

Nguyen denies she ever intentionally misled Lam and  Chau and states

that Alpha merely passed on all of the financial in formation they

received from PQ Investments. 57

Lam and Chau claim that before closing they were gi ven only

one other income statement, which displayed annual expenses of

$24,040, but annual net income of approximately $12 0,000. 58  Nguyen



59Lam 41, Exhibit J to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response,  Docket
Entry No. 49, p. 1.

60Lam 42, Exhibit K to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response,  Docket
Entry No. 49, p. 1.

61Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 20.

62Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 29.

63Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 21.

-13-

states that she provided Lam and Chau with two addi tional financial

documents before they purchased the property.  The first, entitled

“PQ Investments, Inc. Income Statement for the Peri od Ended

June 30, 2006,” shows that the property had gross p rofits of

$71,214, total operating expenses of $43,369, and a  net income of

$30,127. 59  The second, which also displays “PQ Investments, Inc.”

across the top, lists what appear to be property ex penses incurred

between January and July of 2006 that total over $2 0,000. 60  Lam

states that the plaintiffs did not receive these la tter two

documents until PQ Investments’ accountants transfe rred them to Lam

and Chau after closing. 61  Nguyen states she was unaware of “any

information that would have caused [her] to suspect  that [PQ

Investments’] information was inaccurate or unrelia ble.” 62  After

purchasing the W. 34th St. property, during the twe lve-month period

ending December 31, 2007, Lam and Chau experienced a total income

of $98,260 and total expenses of $51,887.18, produc ing a net income

of $46,372.82. 63



64Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 15.

65Id.

66Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 95.

67Id.  ¶ 96.

68Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 33.

69Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 12; Longenbaugh Settlement Statemen t, Exhibit E to
Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49,  p. 1; Affidavit
of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Motion, Docket  Entry No. 38,
¶ 16.
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A-1 Amusements, a tenant at the W. 34th St. propert y, gave

notice “shortly before closing that it would vacate  the property.” 64

Nguyen states that to protect Lam and Chau from any  loss resulting

from A-1's departure, PQ Investments agreed to pay Lam and Chau a

master lease in the amount of $80,856. 65  Lam and Chau allege that

Nguyen fraudulently represented that she would loca te a replacement

tenant to fill the space at a more favorable rent r ate within a few

months. 66

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen also represented th at a

parking lot “ancillary” to the W. 34th St. property  was part of the

property. 67  Nguyen responds that they never discussed the par king

lot and that Lam and Chau had in their possession d ocuments showing

the parking lot was leased from Reliant Energy. 68

5. The Longenbaugh Transaction

On May 1, 2006, Lam and Chau contracted to purchase  the

Longenbaugh property from Murka d/b/a Green Planet Cleaners for

approximately $500,000. 69  Lam and Chau closed on the property on



70Longenbaugh Purchase Agreement, Exhibit 12 to Alpha ’s Motion,
Docket Entry No. 38, p. 1.

71Id.

72Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 13.

73Id.

74Id.  ¶ 14.

75Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 8.

76Id.  ¶ 27.
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August 29, 2006. 70  Lam’s affidavit states that Nguyen received a

$30,000 commission at closing. 71  The transaction entailed Lam and

Chau assuming $400,000 of Murka’s debt to United Ce ntral Bank and

borrowing the remaining $100,000 from Nguyen, givin g Nguyen a deed

of trust on the property, improvements, and busines s. 72  Lam and

Chau allege that Nguyen proposed that they let Nguy en manage the

dry-cleaning business free of charge until it exper ienced improved

sales and then sell the business to reimburse Nguye n, leaving Lam

and Chau with solely the investment property. 73  Nguyen served as

the intermediary real estate broker between Lam and  Chau and the

sellers, a position that Lam again states Nguyen di d not fully

disclose before the transaction occurred. 74  Nguyen states that she

managed the Longenbaugh property under an oral agre ement with Lam

and Chau, 75 but she denies she ever offered or agreed to manag e the

dry-cleaning business. 76

Before purchasing the Longenbaugh property, Lam and  Chau

reviewed an income and expense statement for Green Planet Cleaners,



77Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 15; Income Statement of Green Plane t Cleaners,
Exhibit M to Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49,
p. 1.

78Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 15.

79Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶¶ 25–26.

80Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 84.

81Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on, Docket
Entry No. 38, ¶ 28.
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which showed that from January 1 to October 30, 200 5, the business

netted income totaling $38,011. 77  Lam states that the statement was

prepared by Nguyen’s assistant and that Nguyen repr esented that the

business’s financial information was “good.” 78  Nguyen states that

Alpha simply passed along the income information it  received from

Murka, that Alpha did not verify or vouch for the f inancial

information, and that Alpha was unaware of any info rmation that

would have caused them to suspect that Murka’s fina ncial

information was inaccurate or unreliable. 79

Lam alleges that Nguyen represented she would be ab le to

secure a cell phone tower lease with T-Mobile for m ore than $750

per month. 80  Nguyen disputes that contention, and states that

T-Mobile indeed offered to lease a portion of the p roperty for the

erection of a cell-phone tower but never offered to  pay more than

$500 per month. 81



82Affidavit of Tony Lam, Tab 1 of Plaintiffs’ Respons e, Docket
Entry No. 49, ¶ 16.

83Id.

84Plaintiffs’ Original Complaint, Docket Entry No. 1.

85Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22.
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Lam states that Nguyen and Alpha Realtors managed t he business

until Alpha was relieved of its duties in August of  2008. 82  On

May 8, 2009, Lam and Chau sold the dry-cleaning bus iness for

$275,000. 83

B. Procedural History

Lam and Chau commenced this action by filing their Original

Complaint on September 19, 2009. 84  They filed their First Amended

Complaint on November 16, 2009 (the “Complaint”). 85  The Complaint

alleges ten causes of action:

(1) breach of the Bissonnet Management Agreement;

(2) common law and statutory fraud for representatio ns
made concerning the Bissonnet, Beechnut,
Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties;

(3) common law and statutory fraud for representatio ns
and actions concerning the Beechnut property;

(4) civil conspiracy to commit common law and statut ory
fraud for actions and representations concerning
the Beechnut property;

(5) common law and statutory fraud concerning
representations and actions concerning the
Longenbaugh property;

(6) common law and statutory fraud concerning
representations and actions concerning the
W. 34th St. Property;



86Defendants Alpha Realtors, Inc. and Alpha Financial  Network’s
Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Original Counterc laim (“Alpha’s
Answer”), Docket Entry No. 27, ¶¶ 37–66.

87Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38.

88Plaintiffs’ Fiduciary-Duty Motion, Docket Entry No.  39;
Plaintiffs’ Chapter 62 Motion, Docket Entry No. 40.
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 (7) violations of Chapter 12 of the Texas Civil
Practice and Remedies Code for actions concerning
the Broadway, Bissonnet and W. 34th St. properties;

 (8) violations of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practic es
Act (“Texas DTPA”);

 (9) breach of fiduciary duty; and

(10) violations of Chapter 62 of the Texas Property Code
for actions concerning the Broadway, Bissonnet, and
W. 34th St. properties.

Alpha counterclaimed, alleging that Lam and Chau br eached the

management agreements covering the Bissonnet, Broad way,

W. 34th St., and Longenbaugh properties, and also r equested

attorneys’ fees and costs. 86

On August 6, 2010, the Alpha defendants moved for p artial

summary judgment on Lam and Chau’s fraud claims (ca uses of action

two through six), Texas DTPA claim (cause of action  eight), and

fiduciary-duty claims (cause of action nine). 87  Lam and Chau then

moved for partial summary judgment on August 17, 20 10, on some of

their fiduciary-duty claims (cause of action nine),  their Texas

Property Code claim (cause of action ten), and Alph a’s breach-of-

contract counterclaim. 88
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II.  Standard of Review

Summary judgment is authorized if the movant establ ishes there

is no genuine dispute about any material fact and t he law entitles

it to judgment.  F ED.  R.  CIV .  P. 56(c)(2).  Disputes about material

facts are “genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury

could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.  An derson v.

Liberty Lobby, Inc. , 477 U.S. 242, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2511 (1986).

The Supreme Court has interpreted the plain languag e of Rule 56(c)

to mandate the entry of summary judgment “after ade quate time for

discovery and upon motion, against a party who fail s to make a

showing sufficient to establish the existence of an  element

essential to that party's case, and on which that p arty will bear

the burden of proof at trial.”  Celotex Corp. v. Ca trett , 477 U.S.

317, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2552 (1986).  A party moving for summary

judgment “must ‘demonstrate the absence of a genuin e issue of

material fact,’ but need not negate the elements of  the nonmovant's

case.”  Little v. Liquid Air Corp. , 37 F.3d 1069, 1075 (5th Cir.

1994) (en banc) (quoting Celotex , 106 S. Ct. at 2553–2554).

If the moving party meets this burden, Rule 56(c) r equires the

nonmovant to go beyond the pleadings and show by af fidavits,

depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions  on file, or

other admissible evidence that specific facts exist  over which

there is a genuine issue for trial.  Id.  (citing Celotex , 106
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S. Ct. at 2553–2554).  In reviewing the evidence “t he court must

draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonm oving party, and

it may not make credibility determinations or weigh  the evidence.”

Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products Inc. , 530 U.S. 133, 120

S. Ct. 2097, 2110 (2000).

Factual controversies are to be resolved in favor o f the

nonmovant, “but only when . . . both parties have s ubmitted

evidence of contradictory facts.”  Little , 37 F.3d at 1075.  “The

party opposing summary judgment is required to iden tify specific

evidence in the record and to articulate the precis e manner in

which that evidence supports his or her claim.  Rag as v. Tennessee

Gas Pipeline Co. , 136 F.3d 455, 458 (5th Cir. 1998).  “Rule 56 does

not impose upon the district court a duty to sift t hrough the

record in search of evidence to support a party's o pposition to

summary judgment.”  Id.

When a party chooses not to respond to all or part of a

summary-judgment movant’s validly supported motion,  the court will

not merely enter a “default” summary judgment, but it may accept as

undisputed the facts the movant provides in support  of its motion.

See Eversley v. MBank Dallas , 843 F.2d 172, 173–74 (5th Cir. 1988)

(finding that when the plaintiff failed to oppose t he defendant’s

motion for summary judgment, the district court “di d not err in

granting the motion” because the motion established  a prima facie

showing of the defendant’s entitlement to judgment) .



89Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶¶ 57–102.  

90Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, ¶¶ 19–53.
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III.  Lam and Chau’s Fraud Claims

A. Background

Lam and Chau allege five causes of action based on either

fraud or conspiracy to commit fraud, and each of th ese causes of

action is based on one or more allegedly fraudulent

representations. 89  After Alpha moved for summary judgment on all

five of these causes of action, 90 Lam and Chau sought voluntary

dismissal without prejudice for some of their fraud  claims:

. . . [T]he results of discovery in this case have
revealed, as highlighted by Defendants in their Mot ion
for Partial Summary Judgment . . . that some of
Plaintiffs’ claims should be voluntarily dismissed
without prejudice.  To the extent Plaintiffs’ conti nued
investigation of this case, and its preparation for
trial, reveal that those claims should be re-instat ed,
Plaintiffs will seek leave of this Court to amend t heir
First Amended Complaint. 91

Although Lam and Chau subsequently moved to volunta rily dismiss

some of their fraud claims without prejudice, 92 Alpha argues that

it is entitled to summary judgment on the claims an d that they

should not be dismissed without prejudice. 93

The court concludes that all of Lam and Chau’s frau d claims

deserve summary-judgment consideration.  As stated in Fed. R. Civ.



94Docket Control Order, Docket Entry No. 24.
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P. 56(c)(2), the “judgment sought should be rendere d if the

pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materials o n file, and any

affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as t o any material

fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as  a matter of

law.”  The discovery period for this action ended J uly 30, 2010,

over a month before Lam and Chau filed their respon se to Alpha’s

motion, 94 giving them ample time to compile whatever summary -

judgment evidence they deemed appropriate.  Moreove r, the record

contains summary-judgment evidence from both partie s, including the

affidavits and depositions of both Lam and Nguyen.

B. Applicable Law

The real estate properties in this action are locat ed in

Texas, the parties both cite to Texas law, and no a llegation

invokes the substantive law of another jurisdiction .  Accordingly,

Texas law will govern the substantive claims in thi s action.

 
1. Common Law Fraud

(a) Generally

To prevail on a fraud claim under Texas common law a plaintiff

must prove that (1) the defendant made a representa tion to the

plaintiff; (2) the representation was material; (3)  the

representation was false; (4) when the defendant ma de the

representation the defendant knew it was false or m ade the

representation recklessly and without knowledge of its truth;
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(5) the defendant made the representation with the intent that the

plaintiff act on it; (6) the plaintiff actually and  justifiably

relied on the representation; and (7) the represent ation caused the

plaintiff injury.  Ernst & Young, L.L.P. v. Pac. Mu t. Life Ins.

Co. , 51 S.W.3d 573, 577 (Tex. 2001); Shandong Yinguang  Chemical

Industries Joint Stock Co. v. Potter , 607 F.3d 1029, 1032–33 (5th

Cir. 2010).  A plaintiff’s reliance on the defendan t’s false

statement must be reasonable.  Ortiz v. Collins , 203 S.W.3d 414,

421 (Tex. App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 2006, no pet. ).  Fraudulent

inducement “is a particular species of fraud that a rises only in

the context of a contract and requires the existenc e of a contract

as part of its proof."  Haase v. Glazner , 62 S.W.3d 795, 798 (Tex.

2001).  In a fraudulent inducement claim the elemen ts of fraud must

be established as they relate to an agreement betwe en the parties.

Id.  at 798-99.

(b) Fraudulent Promise

The Texas Supreme Court has stated that “[a] promis e to do an

act in the future is actionable fraud when made wit h the intention,

design and purpose of deceiving, and with no intent ion of

performing the act.”  Spoljaric v. Percival Tours, Inc. , 708 S.W.2d

432, 434 (Tex. 1986); Arete Partners, L.P. v. Gunne rman, 594 F.3d

390, 394 (5th Cir. 2010).  A party’s intent is dete rmined at the

time the party made the representation; however, it  may be inferred

from the party’s subsequent acts after the represen tation is made.
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Id.   “Failure to perform, standing alone, is no eviden ce of the

promissor's intent not to perform when the promise was made.

However, that fact is a circumstance to be consider ed with other

facts to establish intent.”  Spoljaric , 708 S.W.2d at 435; Arete

Partners , 594 F.3d at 395.  The evidence must be relevant t o the

defendant’s intent at the time the representation w as made.  Arete

Partners , 594 F.3d at 395.

(c) Fraudulent Prediction or Opinion

Ordinarily, to be actionable for fraud a misreprese ntation

cannot be “a pure expression of opinion.”  Transpor t Ins. Co. v.

Faircloth , 898 S.W.2d 269, 276 (Tex. 1995).  An opinion may

constitute fraud, however, “if the speaker knows th at it is false.”

Clardy Mfg. Co. v. Marine Midland Business Loans , 88 F.3d 347,

359–60 (5th Cir. 1996) (applying Texas law).  “An e xpression of an

opinion as to the happening of a future event may a lso constitute

fraud where the speaker purports to have special kn owledge of facts

that will occur or exist in the future.”  Id.  (citing Trenholm v.

Ratcliff , 646 S.W.2d 927, 930 (Tex. 1983)).

2. Statutory Fraud

For transactions involving real estate, the Texas B usiness and

Commerce Code provides a separate avenue through wh ich a plaintiff

can recover on theory of fraud.  Section 27.01 stat es that a

plaintiff must prove that either (1) there was a fa lse

representation of a past or existing material fact,  made for the
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purpose of inducing a person to enter into a contra ct, and  relied

on by that person in entering into that contract, o r (2) there was

a false promise to do an act that was made with the  intention of

not fulfilling it, for the purpose of inducing that  person to enter

into a contract, and relied on by that person in en tering into that

contract.  Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 27.01(a) (V ernon 1987).

Other than the fact that statutory fraud does not r equire proof of

knowledge or recklessness as a prerequisite to the recovery of

actual damages, the basic elements of Texas common law and

statutory fraud are the same.  Burleson State Bank v. Plunkett , 27

S.W.3d 605, 617 (Tex. App. — Waco 2000, pet. denied ).  The court

will therefore not distinguish between these two ty pes of fraud in

determining whether summary judgment is appropriate  for Lam and

Chau’s fraud claims.

C. Analysis

Lam and Chau allege five causes of action grounded in fraud or

conspiracy to commit fraud, and Alpha has moved for  summary

judgment on all of them.  As stated above, even tho ugh Lam and Chau

have moved to voluntarily dismiss some of their cla ims, given the

completeness of the record and the adequate time bo th parties had

to conduct discovery, the court will consider all o f Alpha’s

summary-judgment arguments.  Each of the five fraud  causes of

action will be discussed in turn.



95Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 59.
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1. Lam and Chau’s Allegation that Alpha Realtors and  Nguyen
Made Fraudulent Representations Concerning the Pric e and
Management of Four of the Properties During Their I nitial
Discussions

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen, on behalf of Alpha , made four

fraudulent representations during their initial dis cussions about

purchasing properties in Houston:  (1) that if Lam and Chau

“purchased one or more of the properties shown to t hem, they would

receive 50% of the commission on those sales,” (2) that “Nguyen

would manage the properties at no charge for five y ears,” (3) that

“Nguyen would maintain full occupancy at the proper ties,” and

(4) that “the value of the properties would increas e under their

management.” 95  Lam and Chau further allege that at the time thes e

representations and promises were made, Alpha had “ no intention of

performing the promised management services,” that “[n]one of these

representations proved to be true,” that the defend ants either knew

they were false or made the representations reckles sly, that they

were made with the intent of “inducing [Lam and Cha u] to purchase

the various properties,” that Lam and Chau “did, in  fact, act in

reliance on these representations when they purchas ed the

properties at issue,” and that as a result, Lam and  Chau suffered

injury. 96



97Complaint, Docket Entry No. 22, ¶ 59.  Lam and Chau  exclude
dealings arising from the Broadway property in this  as well as in
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(a) Representation Concerning Lam and Chau’s Share o f
the Commission

 Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen fraudulently repre sented she

would share 50% of her commission with them for pro perties she

showed to them. 97  Alpha argues that even assuming Nguyen made the

representation, Lam and Chau as a matter of law cou ld not have

“actually and justifiably” relied on it for three o f the four

property purchases because of Lam’s earlier accepta nce of a 25%

share of Nguyen’s commission. 98  Lam and Chau move to dismiss the

claim without prejudice. 99

Lam states in his deposition that Nguyen made the

representation concerning the 50% split in commissi on during their

first telephone conversation while Lam still reside d in Hawaii. 100

Lam acknowledged there is no written documentation of this

representation and that he did not ask Nguyen to co nfirm it in

writing. 101

Nguyen gives conflicting statements about when she discussed

sharing her commission with Lam.  In her affidavit she states that



102Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on,
Docket Entry No. 38, ¶ 7.

103Id.
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when Lam first contacted her, he said “he wanted to  split the

broker’s fees with [her] for any properties he purc hased” and that

she agreed to share “some portion” of her fees for properties Lam

located and negotiated, but not for properties Alph a Realtors

located and negotiated for him. 102  She states that Lam “agreed that

[they] would split the fees on a case-by-case basis .” 103  In her

deposition Nguyen explains in greater detail how th eir commission-

sharing negotiations were different for each proper ty. 104  But in

her deposition Nguyen also indicates that the first  time the

commission-sharing subject surfaced was around Marc h of 2006, when

Lam proposed the idea before he closed on the Broad way property. 105

Nguyen disputes that she agreed from the outset to share 50%

of her commissions with Lam and Chau, but the recor d shows that

Nguyen ended up sharing a portion of her commission  with Lam and

Chau for four of the five property transactions.  N guyen closed on

the five properties in the following order:  the Br oadway property

(March 31, 2006), the Bissonnet property (April 12,  2006), the

Beechnut property (June 7, 2006), the Longenbaugh p roperty

(August 26, 2006), and the W. 34th St. Property (Se ptember 5,



106Affidavit of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit 1 to Alpha’s Moti on,
Docket Entry No. 38, ¶¶ 12–16.

107Deposition of Jane Nguyen, Exhibit B to Tab 2 of Pl aintiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 144:15–24.

108Id.  at 144:15–25; 149:15–19.

109Id.  at 147:12–148:17.

110Id.  at 149:4–14.

111Id.  at 145:5–19.

112Id.  at 148:18–149:3.
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2006). 106  With respect to the Broadway property, Nguyen sta tes that

she gave Lam 50% of her commission. 107  Broadway is the only

property for which Nguyen states that they had a ve rbal pre-closing

agreement to evenly split the commission, and Nguye n explains that

this was because Lam was the one who located the Br oadway

property. 108  With respect to the Bissonnet property, Nguyen st ates

that although she initially told Lam he would recei ve none of the

commission, she ultimately gave him around $9,000 ( 25% of the

commission) after he protested. 109  With respect to the Beechnut

property, Nguyen states that she gave him 50% of th e commission

because Lam was the one who located the Beechnut pr operty. 110  With

respect to the Longenbaugh property, Nguyen states that she did not

give Lam and Chau any portion of the commission. 111  Finally, with

respect to the W. 34th St. property, Nguyen states that she gave

Lam around 25% of the commission because Lam “remin d[ed]” her and

she didn’t “want to have any hardship feeling[s].” 112



113Alpha’s Motion, Docket Entry No. 38, ¶ 22.

-30-

Based on the chronology of these transactions, Alph a argues

that even if Nguyen had previously agreed to evenly  split her

commission, Lam was “on notice” after the Bissonnet  transaction —

when Nguyen only gave Lam 25% of the commission — t hat Nguyen was

not planning to honor the agreement. 113

The court first concludes that with respect to the Bissonnet

property, a genuine issue of fact exists as to whet her Nguyen

fraudulently represented that she would give Lam an d Chau 50% of

the commission.  The Broadway property was the only  property Lam

and Chau had closed on before the Bissonnet transac tion, and the

parties do not dispute that Nguyen verbally agreed to give Lam and

Chau 50% of the Broadway commission.  If Nguyen rep resented from

the outset, as Lam and Chau allege, that she would evenly share her

commission, and if, as the parties agree, Nguyen ga ve them 50% of

the commission for the Broadway property, a reasona ble jury could

conclude that Lam and Chau justifiably relied on he r representation

in acquiring the Bissonnet property.  Because a gen uine dispute

about a material fact exists with respect to the Bi ssonnet

property, the court will not grant Alpha’s motion f or summary

judgment on this claim, but will grant Lam and Chau ’s motion to

dismiss this claim without prejudice.

With respect to the Beechnut property, the court co ncludes

that Alpha is entitled to summary judgment.  A show ing of fraud
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requires proof that the representation was false.  Because Nguyen

states — and Lam and Chau do not dispute — that she  gave Lam 50% of

the commission for the Beechnut property, nothing i n the record

suggests that Nguyen’s representation was false.  A lpha is thus

entitled to summary judgment because there is no ev idence to

support an essential element of Lam and Chau’s caus e of action.

With respect to the Longenbaugh and W. 34th St. pro perties,

the court concludes that a genuine fact issue exist s as to whether

Lam and Chau justifiably relied on Nguyen’s represe ntation that she

would evenly split the commissions.  Alpha argues t hat since Lam

and Chau received only 25% of the commission for th e Bissonnet

property, they cannot justify relying on Nguyen’s p rior

representation for their subsequent purchases. 114  The record shows,

however, that the transaction immediately preceding  the Longenbaugh

transaction was for the Beechnut property, not the Bissonnet

property. 115  Nguyen states in her deposition that she gave Lam  and

Chau 50% of the commission for the Beechnut transac tion. 116  It

therefore stands to reason that even though Lam and  Chau had not

collected 50% of the commission for every transacti on, they could
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have reasonably assumed that the Bissonnet transact ion was the

exception and that their share of the commission fo r the

Longenbaugh transaction would equal the 50% they re ceived from the

Beechnut transaction.  The record does not provide sufficient

evidence for the court to conclude as a matter of l aw that Lam and

Chau did not justifiably rely on Nguyen’s represent ation.  See  1001

McKinney Ltd. v. Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgag e Capital , 192

S.W.3d 20, 30 (Tex. App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 200 5, pet. denied)

(“In the context of common law fraud, courts have u niformly treated

the issue of justifiable reliance as a question for  the

factfinder.”).  Therefore, Lam and Chau’s claim bas ed on the

commission-splitting representation will be dismiss ed without

prejudice with respect to the Longenbaugh and W. 34 th St.

properties.

(b) Representation Concerning Nguyen’s Proposal to
Manage the Properties

Lam and Chau allege that when they first contacted Nguyen, she

represented that if they purchased a property she s howed them, she

would manage the property at no charge for five yea rs. 117

Alpha argues that it is entitled to summary judgmen t on this

claim because (1) with respect to the Bissonnet pro perty, Lam could

not have “justifiably” relied on the representation , and (2) with

respect to the Beechnut, Longenbaugh, and W. 34th S t. properties,
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one of Lam’s statements during his deposition shows  he could not

have “actually and justifiably” relied on the repre sentation. 118

With regard to the Bissonnet property, Alpha argues  that Lam

and Chau’s reliance is not justifiable because Lam “knew” that real

estate brokers “do not render their professional se rvices free of

charge” 119 and because the oral representation on which they relied

directly contradicts the terms of a written contrac t between the

parties. 120

Lam and Chau’s claim does not fail in this instance  merely

because they subsequently entered into the Bissonne t Management

Agreement with Nguyen and Alpha.  Alpha is correct that Texas

courts have held that in the context of fraudulent inducement,

reliance upon an oral representation that is direct ly contradicted

by the express, unambiguous terms of a written agre ement between

the parties is not justified as a matter of law.  D RC Parts &

Accessories, L.L.C. v. VM Motori, S.P.A. , 112 S.W.3d 854, 858 (Tex.

App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 2003, pet. denied) (en banc).  Cases

applying this rule involve plaintiffs who are attem pting to avoid

contractual obligations by arguing that the defenda nt, in making

pre-contractual oral representations that directly contradict

provisions of the contract, fraudulently induced th em to enter into
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the contract.  See  DRC Parts & Accessories , 112 S.W.3d at 856;

Wuertz v. Nationwide Life Ins. Co. , 2009 WL 1331860, at *1–2, 4–5

(Tex. App. — Houston [1st Dist.] 2009, no pet.) (un reported).  The

rule is based on the policy that parties have an in terest in

attaining certainty and avoiding disputes through w ritten

contracts.  In this action, however, Lam and Chau a re not alleging

they were fraudulently induced to enter into the Bi ssonnet

Management Agreement; instead, they allege that Ngu yen’s

misrepresentation induced them to purchase the Biss onnet property

on April 12, 2006.  The management agreement was no t executed until

May 30, 2006.  While the agreement may contradict N guyen’s alleged

oral representation, it does not preclude Lam and C hau from seeking

damages for fraudulent representations made with th e intent to

induce them to use Alpha’s services to purchase the  Bissonnet

property.

Alpha also argues that Lam could not have justifiab ly relied

on Nguyen’s representation because Lam was aware th e representation

was “patently unreasonable.” 121  During his deposition Lam testified

as follows regarding Nguyen’s alleged offer to mana ge the

properties free of charge:

Q: When did Ms. Nguyen make [this] representation[]  to
you?

A: I don’t remember when but first time contact.  A nd
that’s the offer I got before I flew to Houston.
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. . .

Q: How did she make these representations to you?  Was it
on the telephone or through an e-mail?

A: On the telephone.

. . .

Q: You understood her to be saying that no matter w hat
property or properties you purchased, if you bought  them,
she would do these things for you?

A: That’s what we understood.

Q: But you didn’t ask her to get it in writing?

A: No.

. . . 

Q: In your experience, have you ever known of any o ther
property manager, besides Ms. Nguyen or Alpha, who has
agreed to manage commercial properties at no charge  for
five years?

. . . 

A: No, that’s the — that’s the offer I got from her .

Q:  But you’ve never known anybody else to agree to  those
terms, correct?

A: No, I don’t know anyone.

Q:  Does it seem reasonable to you that somebody wo uld
agree to do that for free for five years?

. . .

A: It might be reasonable if she make a commission out of
it; that’s how I’m thinking at that time. 122

Nguyen’s affidavit states that it is “not true” tha t “Alpha

agreed to manage for free any Houston properties th at they
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bought.” 123  She states that it “would not make financial sens e for

[Alpha] to do it, even in exchange for the commissi on on the

property.” 124

The court concludes that Lam and Chau have demonstr ated there

is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether t hey justifiably

relied on Nguyen’s alleged free-management represen tation.  Lam’s

admission that he is unaware of any other real esta te agents who

offer free management does not prove that Nguyen di d not in fact

make such a representation.  While an offer of free  management may

be unconventional, the record contains plausible ra tionales for why

it might have been offered in this action.  For ins tance, in her

deposition Nguyen explains that Alpha generates inc ome from real

estate transactions in two ways — commissions and m anagement

fees. 125  Since Nguyen thought of Lam as an “important clie nt” 126 and

Lam was considering investing, through Alpha, almos t $2 million of

his own money into Houston properties, Nguyen may h ave concluded

that the prospect of receiving large commissions fo r these

transactions was substantial enough to offer manage ment without

compensation.
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In addition, Lam and Chau’s reliance could also be justified

by the way cultural factors influenced Lam and Nguy en’s business

relationship.  Lam states that he initially selecte d Alpha largely

because Nguyen was Vietnamese and because of his be lief that

Vietnamese business relationships are based on trus t. 127  The record

contains evidence that other dealings between Lam a nd Nguyen were

based on trust, or at least based on informal agree ments, including

management agreements negotiated orally 128 and a $100,000 loan from

Nguyen to Lam given without a promissory note. 129

Accordingly, with respect to the Bissonnet property , the court

finds that a reasonable jury could conclude that La m and Chau

justifiably relied on Nguyen’s alleged representati on that she

would manage the properties for free.  Instead of g ranting summary

judgment for Alpha on this claim, the court will gr ant Lam and

Chau’s motion to dismiss this claim without prejudi ce.

Alpha also argues that it is entitled to summary ju dgment with

respect to the Beechnut, Longenbaugh, and W. 34th S t. properties as

to Lam and Chau’s claim that Nguyen represented she  would manage

the properties for free.  Lam signed the Bissonnet Management
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Agreement on May 30, 2006. 130  Lam agreed during the deposition that

as of the day he signed that agreement, he understo od Alpha

Realtors would not be managing any properties for f ree. 131  Alpha

argues that since Lam and Chau closed on the Beechn ut, Longenbaugh,

and W. 34th St. properties after May 30, 2006, plai ntiffs could not

have actually and justifiably relied on Nguyen’s pr evious

representation that she would manage all the proper ties for free. 132

 Lam and Chau’s response is premised on the signifi cance of

the deadlines imposed by § 1031.  Since Lam and Cha u sold their

Hawaii property on March 17, 2006, § 1031 mandated that they had

until May 1, 2006, to identify their replacement pr operties. 133

Only the identified properties could qualify for § 1031's tax

benefits.  See  26 U.S.C. § 1031(a) (2006).  Lam and Chau argue th at

their reliance on Nguyen’s representation caused in jury not only

when they closed on the latter three properties, bu t when they

identified those properties as replacement properti es on May 1,

2006. 134
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The court concludes that Alpha is entitled to summa ry judgment

on this claim with respect to the Beechnut, Longenb augh, and

W. 34th St. properties because of the evidence show ing Lam was

aware that as of May 30, 2006, Nguyen and Alpha did  not plan to

manage the properties for free.  Lam and Chau’s com plaint alleges

that Nguyen’s alleged representation was made “with  the intent of

inducing Plaintiffs to purchase various properties,  and Plaintiffs,

did, in fact, act in reliance on [this representati on] when they

purchased the properties at issue in this lawsuit.” 135  In short,

Lam and Chau allege they were fraudulently induced to purchase the

properties, not that they were fraudulently induced  to identify the

properties pursuant to § 1031.  They purchased the Beechnut

property on June 7, 2006, the Longenbaugh property on August 26,

2006, and the W. 34th St. property on September 5, 2006.  Since all

three of these purchases occurred after Lam agreed to pay Nguyen a

management fee for the Bissonnet property, a reason able jury could

not conclude that for their subsequent three purcha ses, Lam and

Chau justifiably were relying on Nguyen’s represent ation of free

management from late 2005 or early 2006.

(c) Representation Concerning Occupancy at the
Properties

Lam and Chau allege that when they first contacted Nguyen, she

represented that if they purchased a property she s howed them, she
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would maintain full tenant occupancy at the propert y. 136  Alpha

argues that Nguyen’s alleged representation is eith er an opinion of

future events or a promise of future performance (n ot a statement

of fact), and as such requires proof of fraud that goes beyond that

required for ordinary fraud. 137  Alpha argues that since the record

lacks the requisite evidence, the claim fails as a matter of law.

Lam and Chau move to dismiss the claim without prej udice. 138

As with most of Nguyen’s alleged representations, t here is

clearly a genuine issue of fact as to whether Nguye n ever made the

representation:  Lam asserts she made it, and Nguye n asserts she

did not.  Lam states that Nguyen represented over t he telephone

that she would maintain full occupancy at the prope rties and that

he believed her because she said she had “clientele ” that “come to

her from all over [the] United States.” 139   Lam states that he

believed that it was possible for a real estate bro ker to follow

through with such a promise at the time of the phon e call but now

understands it is “not possible” for a broker to gu arantee full

occupancy. 140  Nguyen denies making the representation and state s
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she has “no way of predicting whether a property wi ll attract

enough tenants to keep it fully occupied.” 141

Nguyen’s alleged representation could be construed as a

promise to do an act in the future ( i.e., maintain full occupancy).

“A promise to do an act in the future is actionable  fraud when made

with the intention, design and purpose of deceiving , and with no

intention of performing the act.”  Spoljaric , 708 S.W.2d at 434.

A party’s intent is determined at the time the part y made the

representation; however, it may be inferred from th e party’s

subsequent acts after the representation is made.  Id.

Essentially, Lam and Chau have to show that Nguyen’ s promise

to maintain full occupancy was made with both a dec eitful purpose

and with no intention of performance.  The only evi dence in support

of their claim is Lam’s statement that Nguyen made the promise to

him over the phone in early 2006. 142  There is no evidence showing

that Nguyen had “no intention” of maintaining full occupancy.  In

contrast, the record contains several examples of N guyen’s efforts

to attract tenants to the properties owned by Lam a nd Chau.  Nguyen

explains that Alpha advertised for the Beechnut pro perty with

flyers and magazine ads, which Lam approved. 143  When tenants moved
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out of the Bissonnet property, Nguyen states that s he advertised

for the empty space on a billboard, put a sign in f ront of the

property, listed the property on the Loopnet websit e and on

Commercial Gateway, and called people they knew who  might have

wanted to rent. 144  Lam offers no evidence to dispute these

statements.

   Since Nguyen’s alleged promise to maintain full occupancy

would necessarily depend on whether tenants would w ant to rent

space at the property, the statement could also be construed as an

opinion about the occurrence of a future event ( i.e., that tenants

will want to rent the space).  An opinion may const itute fraud “if

the speaker knows that it is false” or “where the s peaker purports

to have special knowledge of facts that will occur or exist in the

future.”  Clardy Mfg. Co. v. Marine Midland Busines s Loans , 88 F.3d

347, 359–60 (5th Cir. 1996) (applying Texas law).  In this context,

Lam and Chau, in addition to establishing the ordin ary elements of

fraud, must show that Nguyen either knew the statem ent was false

when made or purported to have special knowledge of  future facts.

The only evidence supporting these elements is Lam’ s statement that

Nguyen made the oral representation and Lam’s state ment that Nguyen

said she had clientele coming to her from all over the

United States. 145  Even assuming that Nguyen made the representation
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and that her comment about having a nationwide clie ntele base is

correctly characterized as “special knowledge,” Lam  and Chau still

must show that their reliance on the statement was “justifiable.”

Although Lam was unfamiliar with the Houston real e state market, he

had owned commercial real estate in Hawaii and had owned, operated,

and sold several businesses over the course of twen ty years. 146  A

reasonable jury could not conclude that a person wi th over twenty

years of business experience “justifiably” relied o n a real estate

broker’s promise that there would never be any vaca ncies for any of

the properties he purchased.  Accordingly, the cour t concludes that

whether the representation is construed as a promis e to perform or

an opinion of future facts, Alpha is entitled to su mmary judgment

on Lam and Chau’s claim that Nguyen fraudulently re presented she

would maintain full occupancy at the Bissonnet, Bee chnut,

Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties.

(d) Representation Concerning the Properties’
Appreciation

Lastly, Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen, through Al pha,

fraudulently “represented that the value of the Bis sonnet,

Beechnut, Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties w ould increase

under their management.” 147
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Alpha moves for summary judgment on this claim, arg uing that

even if Nguyen made the representation, there is no  evidence Alpha

knew it was false at the time it was made or that A lpha purported

to have “special knowledge” about the fluctuation o f real estate

prices. 148  Lam and Chau move to dismiss the claim without

prejudice. 149

 An opinion may constitute fraud “if the speaker kn ows that it

is false” or if the speaker “purports to have speci al knowledge of

facts that will occur or exist in the future.”  Cla rdy Mfg. Co. v.

Marine Midland Business Loans , 88 F.3d 347, 359–60 (5th Cir. 1996)

(applying Texas law).  The court concludes that a r easonable jury

could not conclude that even if Nguyen made the rep resentation, she

knew it was false or she purported to have special knowledge of

future facts.  Lam states that Nguyen made the repr esentation, and

Nguyen states that she did not. 150  During Lam’s deposition, the

following exchange occurred:

Q: Did Ms. Nguyen tell you how she was able to
predict that the value of these properties would
increase?

A: No.

Q: Did you have any reason to believe that Ms. Nguy en was
able to predict increases or decreases in the value  of
real estate?
. . .
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A: No.

Q: So were you just relying on her professional jud gment
and opinion that they would increase?

A: Absolutely. 151

Reliance must be justifiable and reasonable.  Lam a cknowledged

that he had no reason to believe that Nguyen was an  accurate

predictor of how the real estate market would fare in the future,

and if he did rely on the statement, a reasonable j ury could not

conclude that was a justifiable and reasonable deci sion.

Therefore, Alpha is entitled to summary judgment on  the claim that

Nguyen represented that the values of all the prope rties would

increase under her management.

(e) Conclusion

With respect to Nguyen’s alleged representation tha t she would

evenly split her commission with Lam and Chau, the court concludes

that Alpha is entitled to summary judgment as to th e Beechnut

property (and that Lam and Chau’s motion to dismiss  without

prejudice will therefore be denied) and that as to the Bissonnet,

Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties, Alpha’s mo tion for summary

judgment will therefore be denied, and the claim as  to these

properties will be dismissed without prejudice.
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With respect to Nguyen’s alleged representation tha t she would

provide management free of charge, the court conclu des that Alpha

is entitled to summary judgment as to the Beechnut,  Longenbaugh,

and W. 34th St. properties (and that Lam and Chau’s  motion to

dismiss without prejudice will therefore be denied) , and that as to

the Bissonnet property, Alpha’s motion for summary judgment will be

denied, and the claim will be dismissed without pre judice.

With respect to the representations that Nguyen wou ld maintain

full occupancy and that the value of the properties  would increase

under her management, the court concludes that Alph a is entitled to

summary judgment with respect to the Bissonnet, Bee chnut,

Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties and that La m and Chau’s

motion to dismiss without prejudice will therefore be denied.

2. Lam and Chau’s Allegation that Alpha Realtors and  Nguyen
Made Fraudulent Representations Concerning the
Acquisition of Tenants for the Beechnut Property

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen, on behalf of Alpha  Realtors,

represented that (1) “if Plaintiffs bought the Beec hnut property

and financed the construction of improvements on th e property,

Alpha and Nguyen, with the assistance of [Quynh] Le [,] . . . would

assist Plaintiffs in finding tenants to occupy thos e improvements;”

and (2) Nguyen and Alpha Realtors “had, at the time  of purchase,

secured seven letters of commitment and five leases  for the

property.” 152  Lam and Chau further allege that (1) neither of t he
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representations proved to be true; (2) at the time they were made

Alpha Realtors and Nguyen either knew they were fal se or made them

recklessly; (3) they were made with the intent to i nduce Lam and

Chau to act on them by purchasing the Beechnut prop erty and by

securing financing for improvements through Alpha F inancial;

(4) Lam and Chau relied on the representations by p urchasing the

property and financing the construction of over $2, 500,000 of

improvements; and (5) as a result, Lam and Chau sus tained injury.

Alpha moves for summary judgment, arguing that (1) the

evidence shows that the alleged representations wer e not false —

that they did in fact assist in finding tenants and  that they did

in fact secure prospective tenants to sign pre-leas es and letters

of commitment; and (2) the alleged representations were made after

Lam and Chau purchased the Beechnut property and co mmitted to the

construction project, thereby nullifying Lam and Ch au’s claim of

fraudulent inducement. 153  Lam and Chau move to dismiss the claim

without prejudice. 154

(a) Representation that Alpha Would Assist Lam and C hau
in Finding Tenants

Lam and Chau purchased the Beechnut property with t he

intention of constructing improvements to create a business park. 155

According to Lam and Chau, Alpha Realtors and Nguye n promised them,
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before they purchased the property that they would help them find

prospective commercial tenants. 156  “A promise to do an act in the

future is actionable fraud when made with the inten tion, design and

purpose of deceiving, and with no intention of perf orming the act.”

Spoljaric , 708 S.W.2d at 434.  Lam and Chau closed on the Be echnut

property on June 7, 2006, for $480,000, 157 and Lam contracted with

CFY Group, Inc. on August 15, 2006, agreeing to pay  $2,143,000 for

the business-park project. 158

The record contains several examples of Alpha Realt ors’

efforts to secure tenants for the business park thr ough pre-leases

and letters of commitment.  Nguyen states that six tenants signed

pre-leases for the business park, with each lease s tating that the

commencement of the lease was “[t]he earlier of the  date the Tenant

opens for business in the Premises or September 1st , 2007.” 159

Nguyen’s assistant, Quynh Le, states that she did a ll the

logistical work to gather all six of the prospectiv e tenants’

signatures. 160
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Nguyen states that she was responsible for convinci ng one out

of the six tenants to sign a pre-lease (a company c alled “AQA

Construction”), 161 and Le states that she was responsible for

acquiring pre-leases from two companies — Omega Mot ors and Bright &

Smart. 162  Nguyen also states that Alpha, along with CFY Gro up,

Inc., placed signs around the property advertising the business

park. 163

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha forged Lam’s signatu re on some

of the pre-lease documents and submitted them to Wa chovia Bank,

Lau’s lender for the business park. 164  Le states that she signed

Lam’s name on all six of the pre-leases at Lam’s in struction

because Lam wanted them quickly submitted to “satis fy the

lender.” 165  According to Nguyen, Alpha Realtors, per Lam’s

instruction, did not collect a security deposit fro m any of the six

prospective tenants because Lam was “nervous” about  whether the

construction would be completed on time and because  he did not want

to pay Alpha Realtors any fees. 166
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The parties do not dispute that the business-park c onstruction

was not completed until at least mid-2008, almost a  year later than

the pre-leases’ stated commencement date. 167  They also do not

dispute that once the business park was completed, none of the six

prospective tenants moved into the business park. 168  Lam and Chau

allege that there never were any tenants who actual ly wanted to

move into the business park and that the letters of  commitment and

pre-leases “were a sham.” 169  The record contains sworn declarations

from seven individuals who stated that they signed either a pre-

lease or a letter of commitment to rent space at th e business park

as well as copies of their pre-leases and letters o f commitment. 170

Six of the seven prospective tenants state that the y were

approached by either Nguyen or Le to commit to movi ng into the

business park. 171  The tenants’ reasons for not honoring their

agreements include discontent with the delayed cons truction and the
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decline in the economy. 172  Lam states on one hand that he did not

see the tenants’ executed pre-leases and letters of  commitment

until mid-2008 when Wachovia sent them to him, but on the other

hand that he remembers signing and faxing to Alpha at least one

letter of commitment. 173

Other than Lam’s allegation, there is nothing in th e record

showing that Alpha and Nguyen had a deceitful purpo se or had “no

intention” of following through when they allegedly  represented

that they would help Lam and Chau find tenants for the business

park.  The evidence shows that Alpha, through Nguye n and Le, not

only intended to assist in finding tenants but that  it actually did

assist in finding tenants.  Lam and Chau do not dis pute that Alpha

helped secure either pre-leases or letters of commi tment from seven

prospective tenants, and besides the fact that none  of them moved

into the business park, there is no evidence these tenants were

fraudulently obtained.

Because a reasonable jury could not conclude that w ith respect

to Nguyen’s alleged promise, Nguyen or Alpha Realto rs had both a

deceitful purpose and no intention of following thr ough, the court

will grant Alpha’s motion for summary judgment with  respect to the

alleged promise.
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(b) Representation that at the Time of Purchase They
Had Secured Pre-leases and Letters of Commitment
from Prospective Tenants

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha fraudulently represe nted at the

time of purchase that it had secured seven letters of commitment

and five leases for the property. 174  Alpha argues that it is

entitled to judgment as a matter of law on this cla im because since

Lam and Chau did not ask Alpha to help find prospec tive tenants

until after they purchased the property, Lam and Ch au could not

have relied on the alleged representation in purcha sing the

property. 175  Lam and Chau move to dismiss the claim without

prejudice. 176

Although Lam and Chau allege that they relied on Ng uyen’s

representation “by purchasing the Beechnut property  and financing

the construction of over $2,500,000 of improvements  on the

property,” 177 Lam states in his deposition that the representati ons

were made in an attachment to an e-mail sent on Jan uary 30, 2007. 178

Lam and Chau provide no summary-judgment evidence s howing that the

representations or any similar representations were  made before

that.  Because Lam and Chau acquired the Beechnut p roperty on
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June 7, 2006, and contracted for the business-park project on

August 15, 2006, a reasonable jury could not conclu de that Lam and

Chau actually and justifiably relied on the alleged  representation

in making the purchase or agreeing to the business- park project.

The court thus concludes that no genuine dispute of  material fact

exists with respect to the element of reliance.

(c) Conclusion

With respect to the claims that Nguyen fraudulently

represented Alpha would assist Lam and Chau in find ing prospective

tenants and that Nguyen fraudulently represented th at at the time

they purchased the Beechnut property, Alpha had alr eady secured

pre-leases and letters of commitment, the court con cludes that

Alpha is entitled to judgment as a matter of law an d that Lam and

Chau’s motion to dismiss the claims without prejudi ce will be

denied.

3. Lam and Chau’s Allegation that Nguyen, Le, Alpha
Realtors, and Alpha Financial Conspired to Commit F raud

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen, acting on behalf o f Alpha

Realtors and Alpha Financial, and Le, acting on beh alf of Alpha

Realtors, “agreed to conspire in an effort to fraud ulently induce

Plaintiffs into purchasing one or more properties i n the Houston,

Texas area.” 179  They allege that the conspiracy focused on the
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Beechnut property, and “believing Plaintiffs to be vulnerable as a

result of their residence in another state (and ult imately another

country) and the fact that English was not their fi rst language,”

Nguyen and Le “represented that they had seven lett ers of

commitment and five leases in place for tenants to occupy the

property once improved and showed Plaintiffs projec ted cash flow

statements and a spreadsheet of lease terms to supp ort these

claims.” 180   Lam and Chau further allege these documents were a

“sham,” that Nguyen and Le forged Lam’s signature a nd initials on

the documents and submitted them to Lam and Chau’s lender

(Wachovia) without their knowledge, and that Lam an d Chau, as a

result of these actions, purchased the Beechnut pro perty. 181

Alpha moves for summary judgment, arguing that (1) the

conspiracy claim fails because the underlying fraud  claim fails,

and (2) Lam and Chau have not shown any evidence of  a “meeting of

the minds” between them and Alpha. 182  Lam and Chau move to dismiss

the claim without prejudice. 183

(a) Civil Conspiracy Under Texas Law

In Texas a plaintiff seeking recovery for a civil-c onspiracy

tort must establish the following elements:  (1) tw o or more
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persons, (2) an object to be accomplished, (3) a me eting of the

minds on the object or course of action, (4) one or  more unlawful,

overt acts, and (5) damages as the proximate result .  Massey v.

Amco Steel Co. , 652 S.W.2d 932, 934 (Tex. 1983).  As a “derivativ e

tort,” “a defendant’s liability for conspiracy depe nds on

participation in some underlying tort for which the  plaintiff seeks

to hold at least one of the named defendants liable .”  See  Tilton

v. Marshall , 925 S.W.2d 672, 681 (Tex. 1996).  Moreover, civil

conspiracy “requires specific intent” to “agree to accomplish an

unlawful purpose or to accomplish a lawful purpose by unlawful

means.”  Juhl v. Airington , 936 S.W.2d 640, 644 (Tex. 1996)

(internal quotations omitted).  “[O]ne cannot agree  or conspire to

be negligent.”  Id.

(b) Applying the Facts to the Applicable Law

Lam and Chau’s conspiracy allegation is again cente red on the

claim that Alpha conspired to “fraudulently induce”  Lam and Chau

into purchasing the Beechnut property and obtaining  financing for

the business park by (1) representing that it had s even letters of

commitment and five pre-leases in place and (2) cre ating “sham”

leases and letters of commitment with Lam’s forged signature and

submitting them to Wachovia without Lam or Chau’s k nowledge. 184

Since conspiracy requires proof of an underlying to rt — in

this instance, fraudulent inducement — the court co ncludes Alpha is
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entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to the c onspiracy claim.

Because Lam testified that he did not learn of the alleged

representations and documentation until late Januar y of 2007, 185 and

because Lam and Chau do not present any summary-jud gment evidence

to the contrary, Lam and Chau’s Beechnut investment  could not have

been “as a result of” Alpha’s actions as alleged in  the

Complaint. 186  Both the acquisition of the Beechnut property and  the

contract for the Beechnut Business Park were in wri ting and signed

by Lam and/or Chau by September of 2006. 187  Lam and Chau’s failure

to establish a genuine dispute of material fact wit h regard to the

reliance element for their fraudulent-inducement cl aim necessarily

defeats their attempt to establish a civil conspira cy.

The court therefore concludes that Alpha is entitle d to

summary judgment with respect to Lam and Chau’s Bee chnut civil-

conspiracy cause of action and that Lam and Chau’s motion to

dismiss without prejudice will be denied.
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4. Lam and Chau’s Allegation that Nguyen and Alpha R ealtors
Made Fraudulent Representations About the Finances,
Leasing, and Future Management of the Longenbaugh
Property

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha made three fraudulen t

representations concerning the Longenbaugh property :  (1) that if

Lam and Chau purchased the property, Nguyen would m anage the dry-

cleaning business; (2) that Lam and Chau would enjo y, on average,

a net monthly income of $5,000 after they paid the mortgage

(supported by financial documents allegedly vouched  for by Alpha

Realtors); and (3) that Lam and Chau would be able to secure a

cell-phone-tower lease with T-Mobile for more than $750 per

month. 188  Lam and Chau further allege that (1) none of the

representations were true; (2) Alpha knew they were  false or made

them recklessly; (3) they were made with the intent ion of inducing

Lam and Chau to purchase the Longenbaugh property, improvements for

the property, and the dry-cleaning business on the property; and

(4) that Lam and Chau in fact relied on the represe ntations and

took such actions, thus suffering injury. 189

Alpha moves for summary judgment with respect to al l three

representations. 190  Lam and Chau respond with counter-arguments for

the first two alleged representations but move to d ismiss without
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prejudice their claim based on the representation c oncerning the T-

Mobile lease. 191  Each alleged representation will be discussed in

turn.

(a) Representation that Nguyen Would Manage the Dry-
Cleaning Business

According to Lam, Nguyen told him she would manage the dry-

cleaning business without compensation the first ti me they

discussed the Longenbaugh property. 192  Although Nguyen denies ever

being involved in the dry-cleaning business, 193 Lam states that

Nguyen said she had previously owned a dry-cleaning  business. 194

Alpha first argues that Nguyen’s alleged promise to  manage the

business fails because it falls within the statute of frauds and

was not in writing, and second, that Lam and Chau c ould not have

reasonably and justifiably relied on the promise. 195

When a defendant moves for summary judgment based o n an

affirmative defense such as statute of frauds, it m ust conclusively

establish the defense as a matter of law.  Royle v.  Tyler Pipe
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Indus., Inc. , 6 S.W.3d 593, 594 (Tex. App. — Tyler 1999, pet.

denied) (citing Montgomery v. Kennedy , 669 S.W.2d 303, 310–11

(Tex. 1984)).  In Texas any agreement “which is not  to be performed

within one year from the date of making the agreeme nt” is

unenforceable.  Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 26.01( a)–(b).  Whether

a contract falls within the statute of frauds is a question of law.

Beverick v. Koch Power, Inc. , 186 S.W.3d 145, 149 (Tex. App. —

Houston [1st Dist.] 2005, pet. denied).  “A contrac t that could

possibly be performed within a year, however improbable per formance

within one year may be, does not fall within the st atute of

frauds.”  Id.  (citing Hall v. Hall , 308 S.W.2d 12, 15 (Tex. 1957)).

Furthermore, an oral contract generally does not fa ll within the

statute of frauds “where no period of performance i s stated.”

Bratcher v. Dozier , 346 S.W.2d 795, 796 (Tex. 1961).

The parties do not dispute that Nguyen’s alleged

representation was not in writing.  Lam’s depositio n includes the

following discussion about the length of time he ex pected Nguyen to

carry out her alleged promise:

Q: How long did she agree to manage the dry cleanin g
business for?

A: We have no time frame.  The only promise I have,  the
business will be improved, and the business will be
resale, and using that money to return back to her
[$]100,000.  That’s the — that’s the condition and that’s
the promise I have.

Q:  But not in writing?

A:  Not in writing.



196Deposition of Tony Lam, Exhibit A to Tab 2 of Plain tiffs’
Response, Docket Entry No. 49, pp. 233:15–234:11.

-60-

Q:  And so if you had kept the dry cleaning busines s for
ten years, it’s your understanding that Ms. Nguyen was
obligated to run it for that entire ten years; is t hat
right?

A: When the business was purchased, there was no ti me
frame. . . .  The only thing was mentioned that the
business would be turned around and will be sell wi thin
a year or so.  That mean — I don’t know what mean.  You
know, a year, that mean can be one month, within a year,
or so.  That mean could be two or three years; I ha ve no
idea.  Until the business improve and business will  be
resell, and that’s what I understood. 196

The court concludes that Alpha is not entitled to s ummary

judgment based on the statute of frauds.  Lam state s that Nguyen

promised to manage the dry-cleaning business for an  indefinite

amount of time.  The duration of Nguyen’s managemen t, according to

Lam, depended on how quickly she improved the busin ess to ensure a

profitable resale.  Lam was under the impression th is process had

the potential to be accomplished within one year.  Since the record

contains evidence that Nguyen’s performance had the  possibility of

being completed within one year, the agreement does  not

conclusively fall within the statute of frauds.  At  the very least,

a fact issue exists as to the parties’ understandin g of the

duration of Nguyen’s management.

A genuine issue of material fact also exists as to whether Lam

and Chau reasonably and justifiably relied on the a lleged promise

in purchasing the Longenbaugh property.  To determi ne justifiability,
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a court should inquire “whether — given a fraud pla intiff’s

individual characteristics, abilities, and apprecia tion of facts

and circumstances at or before the time of the alle ged fraud — it

is extremely unlikely that there is actual reliance  on the

plaintiff’s part.”  Clardy Mfg. Co. v. Marine Midla nd Business

Loans , 88 F.3d 347, 360 (5th Cir. 1996).  The evidence i n the

record showing (1) Nguyen’s financial incentives to  persuade Lam to

purchase properties, 197 (2) the informal nature of the parties’

business dealings, 198 and (3) the degree of trust Lam placed in

Alpha Realtors, in part because its representatives  were

Vietnamese, cumulatively present a fact question as  to whether

reliance was justified. 199

          
(b) Representations About the Seller’s Financial

Information

Lam and Chau contend that before they purchased the  dry-

cleaning business located on the Longenbaugh proper ty from Murka,

Alpha gave them two of Murka’s income statements (f rom 2005 and

2006), vouched for their accuracy, and told them th at based on the
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data, they would receive, on average, $5,000 in mon thly net

income. 200  Lam and Chau state that after they bought the pro perty,

they in fact lost $3,000 a month. 201   The record contains four

financial documents for the Longenbaugh property, t wo of which

display data from the time period preceding Lam and  Chau’s

ownership of the property. 202  The first shows that from January 1

to October 30, 2005, the gross income for the dry-c leaning business

was $154,352 and expenses equaled $116,341, for a n et operating

income of $38,011. 203  Lam stated that he “cannot recall” when he

received this document. 204  The second document shows a gross

monthly income of $118,909.26 from January through July of 2006. 205

Lam stated that he had no knowledge of who prepared  the document

when he reviewed it before making the purchase. 206
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Alpha argues that there is no evidence that Alpha o r any of

its representatives vouched for Murka’s financial i nformation, and

second, that there is no evidence they “knew, or sh ould have

suspected,” that the information was inaccurate.

During Lam’s deposition, he described how Alpha Rea ltors

allegedly vouched for the accuracy of the data:

Q: When did Ms. Nguyen definitively vouch for the
accuracy of [the financial document labeled Exhibit  17 to
Alpha’s Motion]?

A: On the first time we talked on the phone. . . .

Q: What did she say?

A: She give me the impression of the income, so tha t’s
what I believe on.

Q: Well, did she say, ‘This information comes from Murka,
and I assure you that it’s accurate?’

A: The — confirming, no.  But the number was confir med
that the — this is the net income and this is how t he
business operate to get the net income, so that’s t he
impression I have.  Besides that, no.

Q: So Ms. Nguyen never said, ‘I’ve checked the back up for
these figures and they’re all correct?’

A: Like I said, we never mention anything about the
document, where it come from.  The only discussion we
have, how much and how much the net income; that’s all we
discuss. 207

Nguyen testified in her deposition that Alpha Realt ors passed

on to Lam and Chau the financial information it rec eived from
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Murka. 208  For the statement displaying the figures from 200 5,

however, Nguyen testified that the numbers were mer ely “an

estimate” provided by a Murka employee that Nguyen’ s assistant

“organized” and put into “presentable form.” 209

The court concludes that there is a genuine fact di spute as to

whether Alpha vouched for Murka’s financial informa tion in an

effort to fraudulently induce Lam and Chau to purch ase the

Longenbaugh property and the dry-cleaning business.   The summary-

judgment evidence shows that Alpha provided Lam and  Chau with

Murka’s financial information, and the evidence as to the validity

of Alpha’s accompanying statements is inconclusive.

Whether Alpha knew or suspected the information was  inaccurate

is also a genuine dispute of material fact.  Nguyen  was aware that

her assistant prepared a table of Murka’s income an d expenses based

on estimates from a Murka employee. 210  Lam claims that those

numbers were portrayed to him by Alpha as being acc urate.  A

reasonable jury could conclude Alpha fraudulently r epresented that

they were accurate in order to get Lam and Chau to purchase the

property.
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(c) Representation Concerning the T-Mobile Lease

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen represented they wo uld “be

able to secure a cell phone tower lease with T[-]Mo bile in excess

of $750 per month because the Longenbaugh property was the only

space available in the area for the antennae.” 211  T-Mobile formally

offered Lam and Chau $500 per month for the tower o n March 7,

2007. 212  Lam does not recall when Nguyen made the represen tation

but states that he was aware of T-Mobile’s $500-a-m onth offer. 213

He was under the impression “[Nguyen] [would] go ba ck to []

T-Mobile to make the negotiation to bring it up to [$]750” . . . or

$1,000.” 214  Lam does not recall whether Nguyen definitively s tated

that she would bring the number up to $750 or $1,00 0 or that she

would just try to negotiate a higher number. 215  Lam states that

Nguyen told him T-Mobile rejected her offer of $750  to $1,000 per

month and advised him to not accept their offer of $500 per month

because the tower would “take up too much space.” 216
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Alpha argues that “as a statement of opinion about future

events, such a representation is only fraudulent if  Nguyen (1) knew

it was false at the time she made it and (2) purpor ted to have

special knowledge of future events,” and that Lam a nd Chau have

offered no evidence of either. 217  Lam and Chau move to dismiss this

claim without prejudice. 218

Although Lam repeatedly asserts that Nguyen did not  deliver on

her promise to secure a lease with T-Mobile for mor e than $750,

Nguyen’s alleged representation is properly charact erized as a

prediction that she would be able to negotiate that  price.  An

opinion about future events may constitute fraud “i f the speaker

knows that [the representation] is false” or if the  speaker

“purports to have special knowledge of facts that w ill occur or

exist in the future.”  Clardy Mfg. Co. v. Marine Mi dland Business

Loans , 88 F.3d 347, 359–60 (5th Cir. 1996) (applying Tex as law).

A reasonable jury could not conclude from the evide nce in the

record that Nguyen’s alleged representation amounts  to fraud.

Lam’s impression that Nguyen would be able to succe ssfully

negotiate a lease for an amount higher than T-Mobil e’s offer of

$500, even if it is based on Nguyen’s statement, is  not sufficient

as a matter of law to show that Nguyen that knew th at she would be

unsuccessful when she said it, or that she purporte d to have
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special knowledge of T-Mobile’s leasing practices.  Moreover, the

fact that T-Mobile’s offer letter is dated over six  months after

Lam and Chau closed on the Longenbaugh property mak es it highly

unlikely that a reasonable jury would conclude that  Nguyen’s

alleged representation induced them to purchase the  property. 219

 
(d) Conclusion

With respect to Nguyen’s alleged representation tha t she would

manage the dry-cleaning business and Alpha’s repres entation that

Murka’s financial statements were accurate, the cou rt concludes

that there is a genuine dispute of material fact as  to Lam and

Chau’s fraud claim and will thus deny Alpha’s motio n for summary

judgment.

With respect to Nguyen’s alleged representation tha t she would

be able to secure a lease with T-Mobile in excess o f $750 per

month, the court concludes that Alpha is entitled t o judgment as a

matter of law on Lam and Chau’s fraud claim and wil l thus grant

Alpha’s motion for summary judgment and deny Lam an d Chau’s motion

to dismiss the claim without prejudice.

5. Lam and Chau’s Allegation that Alpha Realtors and  Nguyen
Made Fraudulent Representations Relating to the
Management, Financial Status, and Leasing of the
W. 34th St. Property

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha Realtors and Nguyen made the

following fraudulent representations with respect t o the
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W. 34th St. property:  (1) that if Lam and Chau pur chased the

property, Alpha would manage the property and maint ain all

documents relating to the property in Alpha’s offic es; (2) that

five tenants occupied the property producing an ann ual net income

of $126,828 and that there were no expenses associa ted with the

property for which Lam and Chau would be responsibl e; (3) that

Alpha would locate a replacement tenant to fill an empty space at

a more favorable rent than the previous tenant’s re nt within a few

months after closing; and (4) that the ancillary pa rking lot was

part of the property. 220  Lam and Chau further allege that none of

these representations were true, that Alpha either knew they were

false when made or made them recklessly, that they were made with

the intention of inducing Lam and Chau to purchase the W. 34th St.

property, that Lam and Chau did purchase the proper ty, and that

consequently Lam and Chau suffered injury. 221  Alpha moves for

summary judgment with respect to all of the alleged

representations, arguing that there is no evidence of fraudulent

intent. 222

(a) Representation that Alpha Realtors Would Manage  the
Property and Maintain Property-Related Documents at
Their Office

Alpha argues that Lam and Chau’s claims that Alpha Realtors

never intended to manage the W. 34th St. property a nd never
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intended to maintain property-related documents are  unsupported by

the summary-judgment evidence. 223  Lam and Chau move to dismiss the

claim without prejudice. 224

“A promise to do an act in the future is actionable  fraud when

made with the intention, design and purpose  of deceiving, and with

no intention of performing the act .”  Spoljaric , 708 S.W.2d at 434.

A party’s intent may be inferred from the party’s s ubsequent acts

after the representation is made.  Id.

Nguyen states in her affidavit that Alpha Realtors managed the

property pursuant to the parties’ management agreem ent, performing

tasks such as “collecting the rent from tenants,” “ maintaining the

property,” “paying expenses,” “seeking new tenants for vacant

spaces,” and “maintaining the property’s management  records.” 225

One of the tenants, Maitrix Beauty School, was late  paying rent,

but Lam states he has “no idea” whether Alpha made any effort to

secure the rent payment. 226

Lam later acknowledges that VNT Development, LLC (A lpha’s

management arm) wrote several letters to Maitrix Be auty School

notifying the school they were behind on rent, that  it would

receive an eviction notice if rent was not paid by a certain date,
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and that it needed to vacate the space. 227  Lam also acknowledges

that Le sent him an e-mail asking whether he wanted  Alpha to file

a lawsuit against the beauty school for unpaid rent . 228  Lam’s

general response to these documents is that from “[ his] point of

view,” Alpha deliberately delayed collecting rent s o that Alpha,

not Lam and Chau, would collect the late penalties and fees. 229

Alpha submits over seventy pages of copied checks, spreadsheets,

contracts, letters, and e-mails as evidence of both  its efforts to

manage the property and its commitment to maintaini ng the documents

relating to the property. 230

Even if Lam and Chau were unhappy with the quality of Alpha’s

management services, based on the evidence in the r ecord, a

reasonable jury could not conclude that Alpha had “ no intention” of

managing the property or maintaining property-relat ed documents.

Therefore, Alpha’s motion for summary judgment with  respect to this

claim will be granted.

(b) Representation that Five Tenants Occupied the
Property Producing a Net Income of $126,828 and
that Lam and Chau Would Have No Expenses

Alpha argues that it is entitled to summary judgmen t on this

claim because (1) the record shows that Lam ignored  other financial
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documents that he received before he purchased the property and

that show different income and expense figures, and  (2) there is no

evidence showing that Alpha “knowingly provided any  false

information” or “concealed any material information ” from Lam and

Chau. 231  Lam and Chau respond that fact issues exist as to  when Lam

received some of the financial documents and as to whether Alpha

knew or should have known that the financial docume nts contained

false information. 232

The parties do not dispute that before Lam purchase d the

W. 34th St. property, he reviewed a rent roll for t he property

(“Alpha 1547") that was produced by Alpha. 233  Alpha 1547 lists five

tenants and for each one provides the monthly rent,  square footage,

and lease expiration date. 234  The bottom of Alpha 1547 states that

the total expenses are “$0.00" and net income is “1 26,828.00.” 235

Nguyen states that Lynn Dang, her assistant, prepar ed Alpha 1547

based on numbers that came from off the top of the seller’s head

during a visit to Alpha’s office, without “any supp ort at all.” 236
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Nguyen explains that the seller went back to his of fice and

subsequently transferred more accurate figures to A lpha, which were

sent to Lam after Nguyen had already sent him Alpha  1547. 237

According to Nguyen, Alpha 1547 contains “a bunch o f mistaken

information,” including the number of tenants and t he stated rent

for one of the tenants. 238

Lam states that before he purchased the property, h e might

have also received a second financial document (“La m 37") from

Alpha Realtors. 239  Lam 37 has a fax stamp dated February 17, 2006,

which was approximately seven months before Lam and  Chau closed on

the property. 240  The document shows annual income of $142,428 and

annual expenses of $24,040. 241  Lam stated that even if he received

Lam 37 before purchasing the property, it shows sim ilar figures to

Alpha 1547 — that whether or not the property incur red any

expenses, he would receive over $100,000 a year in net income. 242

A third document reflecting financial data from the

W. 34th St. property (“Lam 41") shows that for the first half of
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2006 gross profit was $71,214, but net income was o nly

$30,127.50, 243 and a fourth (“Lam 42") contains a list of expense s

incurred between January and June of 2006. 244  Lam stated in his

deposition that the first time he saw Lam 41 was at  his deposition

even though Alpha Realtors allegedly e-mailed it to  him in July of

2006. 245  Lam states in his affidavit, however, that he rec eived Lam

41 and 42 after the closing when the seller, PQ Inv estments, had

its accountants transfer them to Lam and Chau when they started

researching why the property was producing little i f any income. 246

Alpha argues that Lam 41 and Lam 42, which allegedl y were sent

to Lam and Chau before closing, show that Lam had t o be aware that

at least some expenses were associated with the pro perty before he

bought it. 247  The record is unclear, however, as to whether Lam  or

Chau reviewed Lam 41 and 42 before closing on the p roperty.  Given

the undisputed facts that Alpha Realtors gave Lam a  financial

document containing multiple errors (Lam 1547), a f act issue exists

as to whether Alpha Realtors fraudulently represent ed the financial

status of the property to induce Lam and Chau to go  through with
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the purchase.  Likewise, a fact question exists as to whether Alpha

Realtors knew it was providing false information at  the time it

transferred the document to Lam.

On the other hand, a reasonable jury could not conc lude that

Lam and Chau relied on the representation that ther e would be no

expenses associated with their investment given Lam ’s prior

business experience and the documents that appear t o have been sent

to him before closing.  The court will grant Alpha’ s motion with

respect to that specific representation.  But to th e extent Lam

allegedly relied on the net-income figures presente d by Alpha

Realtors, the court concludes that a genuine issue of material fact

exists and will thus deny Alpha’s motion for summar y judgment.

(c) Representation that Alpha Would Locate a
Replacement Tenant at a More Favorable Rent Within
a Few Months After Closing

Alpha argues that it is entitled to summary judgmen t because

there is no evidence that it had “no intention” of following

through with this representation. 248  Lam and Chau move to dismiss

the claim without prejudice. 249

Nguyen states that A-1 Amusements, a tenant in the W. 34th St.

property, “gave notice shortly before closing that it would vacate

the property.” 250  According to Nguyen, the seller agreed to a
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“master lease” in the amount of $80,856 to “protect  [Lam and Chau]

from any loss resulting from A-1 Amusements’ decisi on to vacate.” 251

Lam states that Nguyen advised him to take the cred it from the

master lease and that closing on the deal would all ow him to pocket

the credit and still receive rent from the space af ter Nguyen found

another tenant within a few months. 252  Lam also states that Nguyen

said he would run out of time on his § 1031 exchang e if he did not

close on the property. 253  Lam agrees with Nguyen that she did not

promise to make up the lost rent if she could not f ind a

replacement tenant. 254

The parties do not dispute that by March of 2008 Ng uyen had

located a replacement tenant to occupy a portion of  the vacant

space. 255  Lam and Chau’s complaint alleges that the replace ment

tenant’s lease included a below-market rent and sev eral months of

free rent, 256 but they do not point to anything in the record to

verify their allegation.  Because the record is dev oid of any

evidence showing that Alpha or Nguyen had “no inten tion” of finding

a replacement tenant when the alleged representatio n was made, a
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reasonable jury could not conclude that the alleged  representation

was made with fraudulent intent.  The court thus co ncludes that

Alpha is entitled to summary judgment on this claim .

(d) Representation that the Ancillary Parking Lot wa s
Part of the W. 34th St. Property

Lam and Chau allege that Nguyen represented that th e parking

lot adjoining the W. 34th St. property, “utilized b y visitors to

the property,” was “part of the property,” and that  they found out

after closing that “the parking lot was instead lea sed from Center

Point Energy.” 257  Alpha argues that it is entitled to summary

judgment on this claim because Alpha was “not quali fied to render

such advice” and that the record contains no eviden ce that it

intentionally represented that the parking lot was part of the

property before Lam and Chau’s purchase. 258   Lam and Chau move to

dismiss the claim without prejudice. 259

Lam stated in his deposition that neither Nguyen no r Alpha

Realtors said anything about the parking lot “until  the new

management took over,” 260 which was around August of 2008. 261  Until
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that point, he had no idea that he did not own the parking lot. 262

When asked whether Nguyen ever told him the parking  lot was part of

the property, Lam responded, “Not at all, unless, y ou know,

something in the form I did not see or I overread, but there’s no

information.” 263

Because a reasonable jury could not conclude that N guyen or

Alpha fraudulently represented that the parking lot  was part of the

W. 34th St. property, the court will grant Alpha’s motion for

summary judgment with respect to this claim.

(e) Conclusion

With respect to the allegations that Alpha represen ted that

(1) it would manage the W. 34th St. property and ma intain all

property-related documents, (2) Lam and Chau would pay no expenses,

(3) it would find a replacement tenant within a few  months, and

(4) the ancillary parking lot was part of the prope rty, the court

concludes that there is no genuine dispute about an y material fact

and that Alpha is entitled to summary judgment (and  that Lam and

Chau’s motion to dismiss without prejudice will the refore be

denied).

With respect to Lam and Chau’s allegation that Alph a

fraudulently represented that the property had five  tenants
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providing annual net income of $126,828, the court concludes that

there is a genuine dispute about a material fact an d will deny

Alpha’s motion for summary judgment.

IV.  Lam and Chau’s Fiduciary-Duty Claims

A. Background

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha, Nguyen, and Le brea ched their

fiduciary duties by making “fraudulent misrepresent ations” (the

same representations analyzed above), “failing to e levate [Lam and

Chau’s] best interest above their own relative to e ach of the

transactions,” and “failing to disclose certain inf orma-

tion . . . which may have affected [Lam and Chau’s]  buying

decisions.” 264

Alpha moves for summary judgment with respect to al l of the

fiduciary-duty claims, arguing first that they are barred by the

applicable statute of limitations, and second, that  since they are

predicated on Lam and Chau’s fraud and conspiracy a llegations, they

fail as a matter of law. 265  Lam and Chau respond that they intend

to dismiss several of their claims without prejudic e (the claims

predicated on the fraud allegations they also wish to dismiss) and

that their remaining claims are timely and are supp orted by the

evidence. 266
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On October 17, 2010, Lam and Chau also moved for su mmary

judgment (Docket Entry No. 39), but only with respe ct to their

claim that Nguyen and Alpha breached their fiduciar y duties by

failing to obtain written consent for serving as an  intermediary

broker and failing to disclose their intermediary s tatus. 267  Alpha

responds (Docket Entry No. 45) by arguing that Alph a Realtors did

disclose Nguyen’s intermediary status and that, at a minimum, a

fact issue exists as to whether Nguyen obtained the  requisite

consent and whether Lam and Chau knew about Alpha’s  intermediary

status. 268

B. Applicable Law

Under Texas law a plaintiff must prove the followin g elements

to prevail on a claim for breach of fiduciary duty:   (1) the

plaintiff and defendant had a fiduciary relationshi p; (2) the

defendant breached its fiduciary duty to the plaint iffs; and

(3) the defendant's breach resulted in injury to th e plaintiff or

benefit to the defendant.  Navigant Consulting, Inc . v. Wilkinson ,

508 F.3d 277, 283 (5th Cir. 2007); Lundy v. Masson , 260 S.W.3d 482,

501 (Tex. App. — Houston [14th Dist.] 2008, pet. de nied).  Texas

law recognizes two types of fiduciary relationships :  A formal
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fiduciary relationship, which “arises as a matter o f law and

includes the relationships between attorney and cli ent, principal

and agent, partners, and joint venturers,” and an i nformal

fiduciary relationship, which “may arise where one person trusts in

and relies upon another, whether the relationship i s a moral,

social, domestic, or purely personal one.”  Navigan t Consulting ,

503 F.3d at 283.

“An agency relationship does not depend upon the ex press

appointment or assent by the principal; rather, it may be implied

from the conduct of the parties.”  Orozco v. Sander , 824 S.W.2d

555, 556 (Tex. 1992).  A fiduciary relationship may  exist between

a commercial real estate broker and its client if t he plaintiff

establishes the existence of a principal–agent rela tionship.  See

SJW Property Commerce, Inc. v. Southwest Pinnacle P roperties, Inc. ,

No. 13-08-00268, 2010 WL 3704928, at *1, 25 (Tex. A pp. —

Corpus Christi Sept. 23, 2010) (holding that “the j ury was

reasonable in inferring that a fiduciary relationsh ip existed

between [a commercial real estate broker] and [its alleged

client]”) (citing Orozco , 824 S.W.2d at 556)).

“It is the duty of a fiduciary to deal openly, and to make

full disclosure to the party with whom he stands in  such

relationship,” and “one occupying a fiduciary relat ionship to

another must measure his conduct by high equitable standards, and

not by the standards required in dealings between o rdinary
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parties.”  Kinzbach Tool Co. v. Corbett-Wallace Cor p. , 160 S.W.2d

509, 513 (Tex. 1942).

A plaintiff alleging breach of fiduciary duty “must  bring

suit . . . not later than four years after the day the cause of

action accrues.”  Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 16.004(a)(5).

C. Analysis

1. Alpha’s Motion

(a) Statute of Limitations

Since the primary events giving rise to this action  occurred

in late 2005 and throughout 2006, and this action w as filed in

September of 2009, the court first concludes that L am and Chau’s

fiduciary-duty causes of action were filed within t he relevant

statute of limitations and are therefore timely.  S ee Tex. Civ.

Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 16.004(a)(5) (Vernon 2002) .

(b) “Breach” Analysis

Alpha does not dispute that Alpha and Nguyen owed a  fiduciary

duty to Lam and Chau.  Rather, Alpha argues that ju st as Lam and

Chau’s fraud and conspiracy claims fail as a matter  of law, so too

do the fiduciary-duty claims predicated on those fr aud and

conspiracy claims.

With regard to the fraud and conspiracy claims unde rlying Lam

and Chau’s fiduciary-duty claims, the court has exp lained above its

reasons for either denying or granting Alpha’s summ ary-judgment
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motion and for either denying or granting Lam and C hau’s motion to

dismiss without prejudice.  The court concludes tha t the fiduciary-

duty allegations predicated on those previously dis cussed fraud

allegations are entitled to the same result afforde d to the

underlying fraud or conspiracy claims.

Therefore, the court concludes the following allege dly

fraudulent representations do not, as a matter of l aw, serve as a

basis for a claim for breach of fiduciary duty in t his action and

that Alpha’s motion for partial summary judgment is  granted (and to

the extent Lam and Chau sought dismissal, their mot ion is denied):

(1) that Nguyen represented she would evenly split h er
commission with Lam and Chau for the Beechnut
property;

(2) that Alpha represented it would provide manageme nt
without compensation for the Beechnut, Longenbaugh,
and W. 34th St. properties;

(3) that Alpha represented it would maintain full
occupancy at all the properties;

(4) that Alpha represented the value of all the
properties would increase under its management;

(5) that Nguyen represented that Alpha would assist Lam
and Chau in finding prospective tenants for the
Beechnut property;

(6) that Nguyen represented that at the time plainti ffs
purchased the Beechnut property, Alpha had already
secured pre-leases and letters of commitment;

(7) that Alpha represented it would be able to secur e a
lease with T-Mobile in excess of $750 per month;

(8) that Alpha would manage the W. 34th St. property
and maintain all property-related documents;
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 (9) that Alpha represented that Lam and Chau would pay
no expenses for the W. 34th St. property;

(10) that Alpha represented it would find a replacem ent
tenant within a few months of A-1 Amusement’s
departure; and

(11) that Alpha represented that the ancillary parki ng
lot to the W. 34th St. property was part of the
property.

The court concludes that the following fiduciary-du ty claims

involve genuine fact disputes and will therefore de ny Alpha’s

motion and grant Lam and Chau’s motion to voluntari ly dismiss the

claims:  (1) that Nguyen represented she would even ly split her

commission with Lam and Chau for the Bissonnet, Lon genbaugh, and

W. 34th St. properties; and (2) that Alpha represen ted it would

provide management without compensation for the Bis sonnet property.

The court concludes that the following fiduciary-du ty claims

involve genuine fact disputes and will therefore de ny Alpha’s

motion for summary judgment, leaving the claims int act:  (1) that

Alpha represented it would manage the dry-cleaning business without

compensation; (2) that Alpha represented that Murka ’s financial

information was accurate; and (3) that Alpha repres ented the

W. 34th St. property had five tenants providing ann ual net income

of $126,128.

Lam and Chau’s remaining fiduciary-duty claims, whi ch do not

rest on the above representations, are not affected  by these

rulings and remain intact.
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2. Lam and Chau’s Motion

Lam and Chau argue that they are entitled to summar y judgment

on their claim that Nguyen and Alpha Realtors breac hed their

fiduciary duties by failing to obtain Lam and Chau’ s written

consent for serving as an intermediary broker and f ailing to

disclose their intermediary status with respect to the Bissonnet,

Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties. 269  Lam and Chau’s argument

rests on the provisions of the Texas Real Estate Li censing Act

(“RELA”) governing the conduct of real estate broke rs in real

estate transactions.  Section 1101.558 states that a licensed

broker is required to provide a written statement “ at the time of

the first substantive dialogue” with a prospective client that

outlines general information about the broker’s rol es and

responsibilities.  Tex. Occ. Code § 1101.558(c)–(d)  (Vernon 2004).

The written statement includes the following langua ge:  “The broker

must obtain the written consent of each party to th e transaction to

act as an intermediary.”  Id.  § 1101.558(d).  Lam and Chau also

refer to Section 1101.559, which provides that a br oker acting as

an intermediary must “obtain written consent from e ach party,” and

the written consent must state “the source of any e xpected

compensation to the broker.”  Id.  § 1101.559(a).

Lam and Chau argue that Nguyen and Alpha Realtors b reached

their fiduciary duty as a matter of law because evi dence in the
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record shows that there were violations of RELA whe n Nguyen and

Alpha represented Lam and Chau as their broker.  Du ring her

deposition, Nguyen stated she “did not recall” whet her she gave Lam

and Chau the required written statement when they c ame to Houston

in early 2006 to look at properties. 270  She also states that she

“do[es] not recall” if she has ever talked to Lam a nd Chau about

what it means to be an intermediary. 271  Nguyen states, however,

that her role as an “intermediary has been disclose d on all the

contract[s].” 272  Lam and Chau argue that despite not obtaining

written consent, Nguyen earned a commission as the intermediary

broker on Lam and Chau’s “purchase of the Longenbau gh and W. 34th

properties,” and received “$45,000 in sales proceed s from the sale

of the Bissonnet property.” 273

The court concludes that a genuine issue of materia l fact

remains as to whether Nguyen and Alpha Realtors bre ached their

fiduciary duty in the context of disclosing the fac t that they were

acting as an intermediary broker.  While the record  suggests Alpha

may have violated RELA, statutory violations by the mselves are not

breaches of fiduciary duty per se; the question of whether Nguyen
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and Alpha Realtors breached their duty, or did not conduct their

business in accordance with the “high equitable sta ndards” expected

of a fiduciary, is a fact question best reserved fo r a jury.

V.  Lam and Chau’s Texas DTPA Claims

A. Background

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha Realtors and Nguyen violated

provisions of the Texas DTPA by engaging in the fol lowing

practices:  (1) representing that some of Alpha Rea ltors’ services

had “characteristics and benefits that they did not  have”

(violating § 17.46(b)(5)); (2) representing that Al pha Realtors’

“services were of a particular standard when they w ere not”

(violating § 17.46(b)(7)); (3) “failing to disclose  information

about [Alpha Realtors’] services that was known at the time of the

transaction . . . to induce Plaintiffs to enter int o transactions

that they would not have entered into if the inform ation had been

disclosed” (violating § 17.46(b)(24)); and (4) enga ging in

“unconscionable actions.” 274  These alleged violations are all based

on the allegedly fraudulent representations discuss ed above.

Alpha moves for summary judgment on all of the Texa s DTPA

claims, arguing that the real estate transactions a t issue are

expressly exempted by the DTPA because they each in volved over

$500,000 in consideration. 275  Lam and Chau respond that the
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transactions underlying their DTPA claims are the t ransactions

between them and their broker (Alpha) rather than t hose between

them and the sellers. 276

B. Applicable Law

The Texas DTPA guards consumers against “[f]alse, m isleading,

or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of an y trade or

commerce.”  Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.46(a) (Verno n 2002 &

Supp. 2007).  Its provisions “shall be liberally co nstrued.”  Id.

§ 17.44(a).  Exempted from the Texas DTPA, however,  are causes of

action “arising from a transaction, a project, or a  set of

transactions relating to the same project, involvin g total

consideration by the consumer of more than $500,000 .”  Id.

§ 17.49(g).  “The purpose of this exemption is to m aintain the DTPA

as a viable source of relief for consumers in small  transactions

and to remove litigation between businesses over la rge transactions

from the scope of the DTPA.”  East Hill Marine, Inc . v. Rinker Boat

Co. , 229 S.W.3d 813, 820 (Tex. App. — Fort Worth 2007,  pet.

denied).

C. Analysis

Alpha argues that Lam’s deposition statements and t he

documents relating to the real estate transactions demonstrate that
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Lam and Chau paid over $500,000 for each property. 277  Lam states in

his deposition that he paid $600,000 for the Bisson net property, 278

“[a]bout three million” for the Beechnut property a nd Beechnut

Business Park, 279 $501,500 for the Longenbaugh property and dry-

cleaning business, 280 and around $1,250,000 for the W. 34th St.

property. 281  The contractual documents for each transaction su pport

these statements. 282  But Lam and Chau counter that their DTPA cause

of action is aimed at the deceptive and misleading manner in which

Alpha represented them as their broker and manager,  not at any

misconduct on the part of the seller. 283  Therefore, according to

Lam and Chau, the relevant “consideration” is the v alue of Alpha

Realtors’ brokerage and management services, not th e total amount

they paid for the properties. 284
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The issue is thus whether Alpha’s allegedly wrongfu l

representations and conduct “aris[e] from” a “trans action” that

“involv[ed]” Lam and Chau giving total consideratio n of “more than

$500,000.”  Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.49(g).  Undo ubtedly, Lam and

Chau participated in such transactions when they pu rchased the

Houston properties.  But it is less clear whether t heir specific

allegations against Alpha, which pertain to conduct  ancillary to

the real estate purchases themselves, fall within t he statutory

exemption and are thus precluded.  Texas case law a ddressing the

exemption is sparse. 

Alpha cites to two cases in support of its argument  that Lam

and Chau’s DTPA claims are precluded by the exempti on.  The first,

Aluchem, Inc. v. Sherwin Alumina, L.P. , 2007 WL 1100473

(S.D. Tex. Apr. 11, 2007), is an unreported case fr om this district

that involved a supplier’s allegedly wrongful condu ct in

association with its agreement to supply calcined a lumina products

to a buyer.  Id.  at *1.  The buyer brought a Texas DTPA cause of

action against the seller after the seller gave wri tten notice it

wanted to terminate the contract.  Id.  at *2.  The court held that

the claim was exempted by Section 17.49(g) because the “total

consideration” paid by the buyer was for more than $500,000.  Id.

at *7.  In reaching its conclusion, the court rejec ted the buyer’s

argument that since the amount in dispute was below  the $500,000

threshold its claim should not be exempt, reasoning  that “total

consideration” should equal what the parties agreed  ex ante, or in

other words, the “contractual face[-]value price.”  Id.  at *6–7.
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The court’s holding in Aluchem  does not support Alpha’s

argument that the relevant transactions in this act ion are Lam and

Chau’s real estate purchases.  In Aluchem  the total consideration

was based on the value of a supply agreement, and t he plaintiff was

suing the party with whom it had entered that agree ment.  Here,

Alpha argues that the total consideration should be  based on the

value of the real estate contracts, even though Lam  and Chau have

brought suit not against the party with whom it con tracted (the

sellers), but against the party who helped find the  properties and

who represented they would manage the properties.

Alpha also refers to Landscape Design & Constr., In c. v.

Transp. Leasing/Contract, Inc. , 2002 WL 257573 (N.D. Tex. 2002),

which involved a buyer suing a service provider wit h whom it had

entered an agreement, alleging the service provider  was concealing

the fact that it was not complying with the terms o f the agreement.

Id.  at *1–2.  The three plaintiffs, all companies, had  entered into

client-service agreements with the defendant suppli er pursuant to

which the defendant supplied employment staff to th e companies in

exchange for compensation.  Id.  at *1.  The plaintiff alleged the

supplier concealed the fact that it was marking up the cost

associated with providing the employees.  Id.  at *2.  The court

granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment  even though the

plaintiff argued that the “amount of total indebted ness” was under

$300,000.  Id.  at *10; see also  East Hill Marine, Inc. v. Rinker
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Boat Co. , 229 S.W.3d 813, 821 (Tex. App. — Fort Worth 2007,  no

pet.) (affirming summary judgment and finding that a boat-

dealership plaintiff’s Texas DTPA claim was exempt because the

value of the contract between the parties was over $800,000).  Just

as in Aluchem , the court did not base its determination of “tota l

consideration” on the amount merely in dispute.

Landscape , like Aluchem , involved a plaintiff suing the party

with whom it had entered into an agreement, and the  determination

of the total consideration was based on the initial  agreement

between those parties.  Here, Lam and Chau have ind eed brought this

action against parties with whom they allege they e ntered an

agreement, but the “agreements” at issue are the br okerage and

management agreements rather than the property-acqu isition

agreements.  The only evidence in the record of the  value of the

consideration Lam and Chau transferred to Alpha for  its services

are the commissions and management fees, and the re cord does not

show, nor does Alpha argue, that these amounts, eve n all together,

are over $500,000.

In addition, the plaintiffs in the cases described above were

all business entities, unlike Lam, who despite havi ng experience as

a businessman was unfamiliar with the Houston real estate market.

If the purpose of the exemption is to “remove litig ation between

businesses over large transactions,” Lam and Chau’s  claim is better

placed outside the scope of the exemption.
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The court concludes that the exemption for causes o f action

arising from transactions involving more than $500, 000 does not

preclude Lam and Chau’s Texas DTPA claim.  Because Alpha offers no

other argument in support of summary judgment on th e DTPA claim,

its motion will be denied.

VI.  Lam and Chau’s Texas Property Code Claim

A. Background

Lam and Chau allege that Alpha violated Chapter 62 of the

Texas Property Code when Nguyen, without a proper b asis, “made,

presented, and used an Affidavit to File a Real Est ate Broker Lien”

for the Broadway, Bissonnet, and W. 34th St. proper ties in the

amount of $11,476.21. 285  Lam and Chau move for summary judgment on

this claim only as to Alpha’s liability and not as to damages,

arguing that by (1) filing for a broker’s lien on t he Broadway and

W. 34th St. properties even though they did not hav e a written

commission agreement with Lam and Chau, and (2) fai ling to provide

a copy of the broker’s lien to Lam and Chau within the statutory

time period, they are entitled as a matter of law t o have the liens

released and are entitled to judgment as to Alpha’s  liability. 286

Alpha responds that the purpose of the broker’s lie n was merely to
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enforce the payment owed to Alpha Realtors pursuant  to the

management agreement to which both parties agreed. 287

B. Applicable Law

A real estate broker is entitled to a lien on a sel ler’s

commercial real estate interest in the amount speci fied by the

commission agreement if (1) the broker has earned a  commission

under a commission agreement signed by the seller a nd (2) a notice

of lien is recorded and indexed as provided by Sect ion 62.024 of

the Texas Property Code.  Tex. Prop. Code Ann. § 66 2.021(a) (Vernon

2007).  For the notice of lien to be valid, it must  be recorded

“after the commission is earned” and “before the co nveyance of the

commercial real estate interest on which the broker  is claiming a

lien.”  Id.  § 62.041(a).  Once the notice of lien is filed wit h the

county clerk, the broker “shall mail a copy of the notice of lien”

not later than one business day after the date of f iling to the

owner of the real estate interest.  Id.  §§ 62.024(b),

62.026(a)–(b)(1).  If the broker fails to comply wi th the notice

requirements, the “notice of lien is void,” which m eans the broker

no longer has a lien.  Id.  § 62.026(f); see also  id.

§ 62.021(a)(2).  A broker whose notice of lien is v oid ( i.e.,

failed to comply with the notice requirements) “sha ll furnish to

the owner a release of indebtedness and any lien cl aimed” no later
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than five days after the broker receives a written request from the

owner.  Id.  § 62.081(a).

An owner may file suit against a broker under the T exas

Property Code.  Id.  § 62.141(a).  If the owner establishes that the

broker “failed to mail a copy of the notice of lien ” within one

business day or “failed to release a lien” within f ive days after

a proper request, “the court shall discharge a brok er’s lien.”  Id.

§ 62.141(b).  A broker may also be liable to the ow ner for damages

if:  (1) the broker recorded a lien, (2) the broker  failed to

release a lien within five days after an owner prop erly requested

a release, (3) the owner mailed to the broker a cop y of the statute

and a notice requesting the broker to release the l ien no later

than ten days after receipt of the request, and (4)  the broker

failed to comply with the owner’s written notice wi thin the

prescribed period.  Id.  § 62.141(c).

C. Analysis

The record shows that Nguyen filed an “Affidavit to  File a

Real Estate Broker Lien” in Harris County with resp ect to the

Broadway, Bissonnet, and W. 34th St. properties on January 16,

2009. 288  Under Section 62.026 of the Property Code, Nguyen

therefore was required to mail a copy of the affida vit by certified

mail, return receipt requested, or registered mail no later than
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within one business day.  See  Tex. Prop. Code Ann.

¶ 62.026(a)–(b)(1).  Lam states that he never recei ved a copy of

the notice of lien. 289  Nguyen confirms this in her deposition when

she testified that she gave notice to Lam by teleph one within one

business day but “know[s]” Alpha did not send writt en notice. 290

The record also shows that on September 6, 2009, La m and Chau

submitted a demand to Alpha via certified mail (ret urn receipt

requested), along with a copy of the relevant statu te, asking that

Alpha Realtors release the lien within ten days of receiving the

demand. 291  Alpha does not dispute that it received the deman d, 292

and it acknowledges that the liens were still in pl ace as of

September 7, 2010, when Alpha responded to the summ ary-judgment

motion. 293

Because Lam and Chau have established that there is  no genuine

dispute that Nguyen and Alpha Realtors failed to ma il a copy of a

notice of lien within one business day of filing an d failed to

release the lien within five days of receiving a pr oper request,
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the court will order that the lien be discharged an d released

pursuant to Texas Property Code Section 62.041.

In addition, Lam and Chau have established that the re is no

genuine dispute as to the following material facts:   (1) that Alpha

recorded a broker’s lien, (2) that Alpha failed to release the lien

within the period prescribed by Section 62.081 (the y had five days

after receiving Lam and Chau’s written request sinc e the lien had

already been “rendered void” under Section 62.026 ( i.e., the

requirement that the notice of filing be sent by ma il to the

owner)), (3) that Lam and Chau mailed Alpha by cert ified mail

(return receipt requested) a copy of Section 62.141  and a notice

requesting Alpha to release the lien within ten day s of receipt of

the notice, and (4) that Alpha failed to comply wit h Lam and Chau’s

written notice.  As a result, the court concludes t hat Alpha is

liable to Lam and Chau for damages as a matter of l aw under

Section 62.141(c) of the Texas Property Code.

D. Conclusion

The court concludes that because there is no genuin e dispute

about any material facts, the broker’s lien should be discharged

and released, and Lam and Chau are entitled to summ ary judgment as

to their claim that Alpha is liable under Section 6 2.141(b) and (c)

of the Texas Property Code.



294Alpha’s Answer, Docket Entry No. 27, pp. 27–31.

295Plaintiffs’ Chapter 62 Motion, Docket Entry No. 40,  p. 10.

296Id.  

297Alpha’s Chapter 62 Response, Docket Entry No. 44, p . 2.

298Id.

299Id.

-97-

VII.  Alpha’s Breach-of-Contract Counterclaim

A. Background

Alpha alleges that Lam and Chau breached the manage ment

agreements pertaining to the Broadway, Bissonnet, L ongenbaugh, and

W. 34th St. properties by failing to pay Alpha mana gement fees for

its services. 294

Lam and Chau move for partial summary judgment with  respect to

the Broadway, Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. agreemen ts, arguing that

the claims fail because all three are oral agreemen ts and thus

violate the statute of frauds. 295  They assert that the only

property for which a written management agreement e xists is the

Bissonnet property. 296

Alpha first responds by referring the court to the parties’

signed management agreement for the Broadway proper ty. 297   Second,

Alpha argues that the statute-of-frauds provision L am and Chau rely

on concerns commissions, not property-management fe es. 298  Finally,

Alpha argues that with respect to the Longenbaugh a nd W. 34th St.

properties, Nguyen and Alpha Realtors managed the p roperties

pursuant to an oral agreement. 299



300Broadway Management Agreement, Exhibit 13 to Alpha’ s Motion,
Docket Entry No. 38.
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B. Applicable Law

In Texas the elements of a breach of contract claim  are

(1) the existence of a valid contract, (2) performa nce or tendered

performance by the plaintiff, (3) breach of the con tract by the

defendant, and (4) damages to the plaintiff resulti ng from that

breach.  Wright v. Christian & Smith , 950 S.W.2d 411, 412 (Tex.

App. — Houston [1st Dist.] 1997, no writ).  Certain  types of

promises or agreements are “not enforceable” unless  they are “in

writing” and “signed by the person to be charged wi th the promise

or agreement,” including a “contract for the sale o f real estate”

and a “lease of real estate for a term longer than one year.”  Tex.

Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 26.01(a)–(b).

C. Analysis

1. Broadway Property

Since the record includes a copy of a written manag ement

agreement between Lam and Chau and Alpha for the Br oadway

property, 300 the court will deny Lam and Chau’s motion to the e xtent

it seeks summary judgment with regard to the Broadw ay agreement.

2. Longenbaugh and W. 34th St. Properties

Lam and Chau argue that Section 1101.806 of the Tex as Property

Code mandates that a broker is prohibited from brin ging suit to



301Plaintiffs’ Chapter 62 Motion, Docket Entry No. 40,  p. 10.

302Alpha’s Chapter 62 Response, Docket Entry No. 44, p . 7.

303Plaintiffs’ Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Pa rtial
Summary Judgment on Chapter 62 Claim, Docket Entry No. 54, pp. 4–5.
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recover certain fees associated with managing a pro perty unless the

agreement is in writing. 301  That section, however, provides that

“[a] person may not maintain an action in this stat e to recover a

commission for the sale or purchase of real estate unless the

promise or agreement on which the action is based .  . . is in

writing and signed by the party against whom the ac tion is

brought.”  Tex. Prop. Code Ann. § 1101.806(d) (Vern on 2004)

(emphasis added).  Alpha refers to the plain langua ge of the

statute in arguing that it does not apply to a brok er’s collection

of unpaid management fees pursuant to an oral manag ement

agreement. 302

Lam and Chau argue in reply that the phrase in Sect ion

1101.806, “commission for the sale or purchase of r eal estate,”

encompasses fees a broker collects when he or she l eases the

owner’s property to new tenants.  According to Lam and Chau, since

Alpha Realtors seeks fees for securing “new tenant leases,” the

claim for such fees fails as a violation of the sta tute of

frauds. 303  In support of their argument, Lam and Chau refer to

Section 1101.002 of RELA, which states that the ter m “broker”

means, among other things, “a person who, in exchan ge for a

commission or other valuable consideration . . . se lls, exchanges,



304Alpha’s Chapter 62 Response, Docket Entry No. 44, p p. 7–8.
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purchases, or leases real estate.”  Tex. Occ. Code Ann.

§ 1101.002(1)(A)(i).

Texas case law supports the conclusion that commiss ion

agreements (and therefore “management” agreements t hat include

broker commissions) relating to the leasing of real  estate must

comport with the statute of frauds as set out in Se ction 1101.806.

See, e.g. , Duncan v. F-Star Mgmt., L.L.C. , 281 S.W.3d 474, 478–79

(Tex. App. — El Paso 2008, pet. filed) (holding tha t a plaintiff

was unable to collect a commission for leasing a pr operty because

the agreement violated the statute of frauds); Carm ack v. Beltway

Development Co. , 701 S.W.2d 37, 39 (Tex. App. — Dallas 1985, no

writ) (interpreting the predecessor statute to Sect ion 1101.806 and

explaining that “[a] lease transaction is a ‘sale’”  within the

meaning of the phrase “commission for the sale or p urchase of real

estate”).

Alpha argues that it seeks to recover commercial-pr operty

management fees, which it acknowledges are based on  “a fixed

percentage of gross monthly rents, new tenant lease s, service fees,

interest on trust accounts, and administrative fees .” 304  Moreover,

the written Bissonnet Management Agreement, the ter ms of which

Alpha alleges also govern the Longenbaugh and W. 34 th St.

properties, provides that “[e]ach time the Property  is leased to a



305Bissonnet Management Agreement, Exhibit C to Tab 1 of
Plaintiffs’ Response, Docket Entry No. 49, p. 5.
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new tenant, [Lam and Chau] will pay [Alpha] a leasi ng fee equal to

5.000% of the gross to be paid under the lease.” 305

In accordance with Texas statute and Texas case law , Lam and

Chau are entitled to judgment as a matter of law as  to the “fees”

based on “new tenant leases” for the oral agreement s governing the

Longenbaugh and W. 34th St. properties.  Whether La m and Chau are

liable for the other allegedly unpaid management fe es presents a

genuine fact issue.  Accordingly, Lam and Chau’s mo tion for summary

judgment with respect to the Longenbaugh and W. 34t h St. breach-of-

contract claims is denied except for the portion of  Alpha’s claim

seeking recovery for the leasing fees.

D. Conclusion

As explained in Section C(1), with respect to the B roadway

property, Lam and Chau’s motion is denied because o f the existence

of the Broadway management agreement.

As explained in Section C(2), with respect to the L ongenbaugh

and W. 34th St. properties, because brokers’ commis sion agreements

for the leasing of real estate must be in writing, the court

concludes that (1) Lam and Chau’s motion will be gr anted to the

extent it seeks summary judgment on Alpha’s breach- of-contract

counterclaim alleging it has not been paid leasing fees; and

(2) Lam and Chau’s motion will be denied as to the non-leasing-fee

portions of the counterclaim.



306The parties have submitted very thorough and well-w ritten
briefs in connection with the pending motions.  As the length of
this Memorandum Opinion and Order indicates, the co urt has expended
considerable time reading these briefs and exhibits  and performing
a significant amount of independent research to be as fully
informed as possible when addressing the parties’ a rguments.
While, because of the sheer volume of information p resented, it is
not impossible that some arguments were overlooked,  the parties
should assume that failure to expressly address a p articular
argument in this Memorandum Opinion and Order refle cts the court’s
judgment that the argument lacked sufficient merit to warrant
discussion.  Accordingly, the court strongly discou rages the
parties from seeking reconsideration based on argum ents they have
previously raised or that they could have raised.
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VIII.  Conclusion and Order

For the reasons explained above, the court conclude s that

Alpha Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgme nt (Docket Entry

No. 38) is DENIED in part and  GRANTED in part ; Plaintiffs’ Motion

for Partial Summary Judgment on Fiduciary Claim Rel ated to Real

Estate Broker Intermediary Failure (Docket Entry No . 39) is DENIED;

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Chapter 62 Claim

[and on Alpha’s Counterclaim for Breach of Contract ] (Docket Entry

No. 40) is DENIED in part and GRANTED in part ; and Plaintiffs’

Motion for Voluntary Dismissal of Certain Claims Ag ainst Alpha

Defendants Without Prejudice (Docket Entry No. 59) is DENIED in

part  and GRANTED in part . 306

A. A summary of the status of each claim in Lam and Chau’s
Complaint in light of the court’s rulings is provid ed below:

Count One – Breach of the Bissonnet Management Agre ement

• Remains in its entirety.
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Count Two – Common Law and Statutory Fraud  

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would split it s
commission with Lam and Chau, (1) Lam and Chau’s mo tion to
dismiss without prejudice is granted with respect t o the
Bissonnet, Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties,  and
(2) Alpha’s summary-judgment motion is granted with  respect to
the Beechnut property.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would manage t he
properties at no charge for five years, (1) Lam and  Chau’s
motion to dismiss without prejudice is granted with  respect to
the Bissonnet property, and (2) Alpha’s summary-jud gment
motion is granted with respect to the Beechnut, Lon genbaugh,
and W. 34th St. properties.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would maintain  full
occupancy at the properties, Alpha’s summary-judgme nt motion
is granted with respect to the Bissonnet, Beechnut,
Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that the value of the properties wou ld increase
under Nguyen and Alpha’s management, Alpha’s summar y-judgment
motion is granted with respect to the Bissonnet, Be echnut,
Longenbaugh, and W. 34th St. properties.

Count Three – Common Law and Statutory Fraud

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would assist i n finding
prospective tenants for the Beechnut property, Alph a’s
summary-judgment motion is granted.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that at the time of the Beechnut acq uisition,
Nguyen and Alpha had already secured pre-leases and  letters of
commitment from several prospective tenants, Alpha’ s summary-
judgment motion is granted.

Count Four – Civil Conspiracy to Commit Common Law and Statutory
Fraud

• Alpha’s summary-judgment motion is granted.
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Count Five – Common Law and Statutory Fraud

• The portion of the fraud claim resting on the alle ged
representation that Nguyen would manage the dry-cle aning
business at the Longenbaugh property for free remai ns.

• The portion of the fraud claim resting on the alle ged
representation that Murka’s financial information w as accurate
and that Lam and Chau would enjoy an average monthl y net
income of $5,000 at the Longenbaugh property remain s.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Lam and Chau would be able to s ecure a
cell-phone tower lease for over $750 a month at the
Longenbaugh property, Alpha’s summary-judgment moti on is
granted.

Count Six – Common Law and Statutory Fraud

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would manage t he
W. 34th St. property and maintain all related docum ents,
Alpha’s summary-judgment motion is granted.

• The portion of the fraud claim resting on the alle ged
representation that five tenants occupied the W. 34 th St.
property producing annual net income of $126,828 re mains, but
Alpha’s summary-judgment motion is granted as to th e alleged
representation that there would be zero expenses.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that Nguyen and Alpha would find a r eplacement
tenant for the W. 34th St. property within a few mo nths of A-1
Amusement’s departure, Alpha’s summary-judgment mot ion is
granted.

• For the portion of the fraud claim resting on the alleged
representation that the parking lot ancillary to th e
W. 34th St. property was part of the property, Alph a’s
summary-judgment motion is granted.

Count Seven – Violations of Chapter 12 of the Texas  Civil
Practice & Remedies Code

• Remains in its entirety.
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Count Eight – Violations of the Texas Deceptive Tra de Practices Act

• Remains in its entirety.

Count Nine – Breach of Fiduciary Duty

• For any fiduciary-duty claim based on an allegedly  fraudulent
representation discussed above, the result is the s ame as the
result as to the representation.

• Lam and Chau’s summary-judgment motion with respec t to Alpha’s
alleged failure to disclose its status as an interm ediary
broker is denied, and the claim remains.

• All other alleged fiduciary-duty claims remain.

Count Ten – Violations of Chapter 62 of the Texas P roperty Code

• Lam and Chau’s summary-judgment motion is granted,  and the
court will order that the broker’s lien be discharg ed and
released.

B. A summary of the status of each claim in Alpha’s Counterclaim
in light of the court’s rulings is provided below:

Count One – Breach of the Bissonnet Management Agre ement

• Remains in its entirety.

Count Two – Breach of the Broadway Management Agree ment

• Lam and Chau’s summary-judgment motion is denied, and the
claim remains.

Count Three – Breach of the W. 34th St. Management Agreement

• For the portion of the counterclaim seeking unpaid  leasing
fees, Lam and Chau’s summary-judgment motion is gra nted.

• For all other portions of the counterclaim, the cl aim remains.
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Count Four – Breach of the Longenbaugh Management A greement

• For the portion of the counterclaim seeking unpaid  leasing
fees, Lam and Chau’s summary-judgment motion is gra nted.

• For all other portions of the counterclaim, the cl aim remains.

Count Five – Attorney’s Fees and Costs

• Remains in its entirety.

The court concludes that this case is appropriate f or

mediation.  If the parties are unable to settle the  case within the

next thirty days, they will provide the court with the name,

address, telephone number, and fax number of an agr eed-upon

mediator.  Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the Docket Contr ol Order (Docket

Entry No. 24) are VACATED.

The court ORDERS that Nguyen and Alpha Realtors’ broker’s lien

for the Broadway, Bissonnet, and W. 34th St. proper ties is

DISCHARGED and RELEASED.

SIGNED at Houston, Texas, on this 4th day of November, 20 10.

                                   
      SIM LAKE

         UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE


